ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Psychology Resilience and Disaster: Flexible Adaptation in the Face of Uncertain Threat

George A. Bonanno,¹ Shuquan Chen,¹ Rohini Bagrodia,¹ and Isaac R. Galatzer-Levy^{2,3}

¹Department of Counseling and Clinical Psychology, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA; email: gab38@tc.columbia.edu, sc4173@tc.columbia.edu, rb3017@tc.columbia.edu

²Department of Psychiatry, Grossman School of Medicine, New York University, New York, NY, USA; email: isaac.galatzer-levy@nyumc.org

³Google LLC, Mountain View, California

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2024. 75:573-99

First published as a Review in Advance on August 11, 2023

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-011123-024224

Copyright © 2024 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media



Keywords

trauma, disaster, resilience, trajectories, flexibility, COVID-19, machine learning, PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder, cost-benefit trade-off

Abstract

Disasters cause sweeping damage, hardship, and loss of life. In this article, we first consider the dominant psychological approach to disasters and its narrow focus on psychopathology (e.g., posttraumatic stress disorder). We then review research on a broader approach that has identified heterogeneous, highly replicable trajectories of outcome, the most common being stable mental health or resilience. We review trajectory research for different types of disasters, including the COVID-19 pandemic. Next, we consider correlates of the resilience trajectory and note their paradoxically limited ability to predict future resilient outcomes. Research using machine learning algorithms improved prediction but has not yet illuminated the mechanism behind resilient adaptation. To that end, we propose a more direct psychological explanation for resilience based on research on the motivational and mechanistic components of regulatory flexibility. Finally, we consider how future research might leverage new computational approaches to better capture regulatory flexibility in real time.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	574
THE UNIQUE STRESS OF DISASTER	575
Disaster Type, Duration, and Timing	575
MULTI-LEVEL PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES	576
TRAUMA, POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER,	
AND THE RESILIENCE TRAJECTORY	577
Skewed and Heterogeneous Distributions	577
Highly Replicable Outcome Trajectories	578
The Resilience Blind Spot	579
TRAJECTORY STUDIES OF DISASTER OUTCOMES	579
Natural and Human-Made Disasters	580
Trajectory Studies Based on Prospective Data	581
COVID-19 AND OTHER PANDEMICS	581
CORRELATES OF RESILIENCE IN THE AFTERMATH OF DISASTER	582
THE RESILIENCE PARADOX	583
Resilience Scales Do Not Predict Resilience	583
Small Effects, Situational Variability, and Cost-Benefit Trade-Offs	584
MODELING COMPLEX TIME-SPECIFIC DATA	585
Supervised and Unsupervised Machine Learning	586
Combining Machine Learning Approaches to Enhance Prediction	586
RESILIENCE THROUGH REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY	587
Motivation: The Flexibility Mindset	588
Mechanism: The Flexibility Sequence	589
CAPTURING REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY IN REAL TIME	590

INTRODUCTION

Disasters can strike swiftly and cause shocking levels of damage. They can also emerge more gradually due to spreading events or causes that ultimately affect huge portions of a population. The high level of uncertainty that characterizes disasters, coupled with their sweeping impacts, can produce a range of mental health consequences, from general distress to depression, anxiety, grief, suicide, or psychological trauma. Although much of the research on disasters has focused on extreme psychological harm, an important and growing body of work has also documented abundant resilience (Bonanno et al. 2010).

In this article, we consider the unique stressors associated with disasters and compare these with the larger literature on aversive and potentially traumatic events in general. We note that the tendency within the mental health literature to underestimate resilient outcomes, often observed in the context of potential trauma, is especially pronounced in the aftermath of disaster. We then consider the relatively recent literature that attempts to map the broader heterogeneity in outcomes following these events, including the recent impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. This approach highlights the diversity of long-term outcomes as well as the previously underappreciated prevalence of resilient outcomes. Next, we review correlates of resilient outcomes and note that these correlates show surprisingly limited ability to accurately predict future resilient outcomes, a phenomenon dubbed the resilience paradox (Bonanno 2021a,b). We review several

Resilience paradox:

the paradoxically weak ability of correlates of resilient outcomes to predict future resilient outcomes possible explanations for the paradox and propose a likely resolution derived from recent theory and research on flexible self-regulation, or regulatory flexibility. Finally, we consider how regulatory flexibility during disaster might be captured in real time using combinations of momentary assessment, machine learning (ML), and other computational methods.

THE UNIQUE STRESS OF DISASTER

Disasters share many features with other potentially traumatic events (PTEs). For example, they are highly distressing and pose violent or life-threatening challenges. However, owing to their sweeping scale, the threats posed by disasters are typically more extreme and enduring than other PTEs. Moreover, the uncertainty of disasters is often compounded by chaotic circumstances and a lack of critical survival information (Son et al. 2019), which exacerbates the already difficult task of sourcing possible solutions and prescribing recovery plans. Disasters also cast a wider net than PTEs. They vary greatly in magnitude (i.e., size, strength, and duration), the nature of the causal event, and timing, which generate both short- and long-term consequences that can simultaneously impact individuals, their families, and the broader geographic regions in which they live (Bonanno et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2020). These consequences in turn can ripple through a multitude of psychosocial and systemic impacts, ranging from disruptions in daily routine to economic fallout, physical health, psychological and emotional impacts, and loss of life.

Disaster Type, Duration, and Timing

The mental health impact of disasters tends to vary across types of disasters. Natural disasters are often experienced as unpreventable, with no clear source of blame, and can result in pervasive feelings of helplessness and loss of control. Although human-made disasters are commonly perceived as more preventable, disasters caused by negligence or premeditation can result in heightened anger and desires for retribution. Conversely, public health emergencies, such as pandemics or acts of bioterrorism, can produce high levels of fear and anxiety due to uncertainty of impact and long-term effect. This distress is often compounded by feelings of isolation and loneliness resulting from accompanying quarantine mandates.

A comparative study across earthquakes, floods, landslides, fires, environmental pollution, and disease epidemics revealed statistically meaningful variation in risk perception across disaster types, which also depended on whether survivors experienced the disaster directly, indirectly, or from a distance (Ho et al. 2008). Of note, however, the categorization of disaster type is often ambiguous, encompassing multiple forms. For example, the 2011 Tōhoku earthquake created a tsunami that led to the meltdown of the Fukushima nuclear power plant, resulting in highly dangerous radiation leakage (McFarlane & Williams 2012). Similarly, while Hurricane Katrina was devastating in its natural course, the flooding in the surrounding areas was worsened by the failure of the levees, which was seen as caused by human neglect and error (Travis 2005).

The duration and timing of a disaster can also vary greatly. Acute-impact disasters, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, or large-scale terrorist attacks, strike suddenly and intensely but often produce rippling consequences that endure beyond the event itself, taxing both personal and community coping resources and weakening the capacity to manage ongoing tasks and challenges. For example, in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, displaced students evidenced ongoing lower levels of educational performance (Pfefferbaum et al. 2016).

In comparison, chronic-impact disasters, such as droughts or disease pandemics, are characterized by a gradual onset and offset. For example, pandemics occur in relatively focused geographic locations, slowly gather momentum, and spread until they reach full pandemic status. These events cause stress through ambiguity and uncertainty, as gradual-onset disasters force people to

Machine learning (ML):

the development of algorithms that learn from data to develop reproducible predictive models, classification models, and clustering models

Potentially traumatic event (PTE): a highly aversive, violent, or life-threatening event that may lead to a prolonged trauma reaction determine the personal health risks of daily activities based on minimal information. During the COVID-19 pandemic, for example, levels of fear, worry, and loneliness increased gradually over the initial months, peaked, and subsequently gradually declined (Varga et al. 2021). Interestingly, although government actions in response to the COVID pandemic may have reduced confusion, they appear to have had little impact on population-level subjective worry and stress (Varga et al. 2021). The offset of chronic disasters can be equally ambiguous, which creates a challenge to interpreting when it is safe to act freely again. Although the economic impact of chronic disasters can be more directly measurable using standard economic indicators, these too are subject to some ambiguity owing to the extended timeframe and the possible confounding influence of additional events that independently inform economic well-being.

Other features of disasters also influence levels of threat, risk, and psychopathology. In a now classic review, Norris et al. (2002) found that the overall level of impairment in exposed populations varied by disaster type, characteristics of the region in which the disaster occurred, and age range. Specifically, the greatest level of impairment was documented in disasters involving mass violence, in less economically developed regions, and among younger people.

MULTI-LEVEL PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

Although the wavs individuals experience and react to disaster are well documented, considerably less research has examined the psychological consequences at broader levels. The available evidence, however, shows that disasters can fundamentally change family dynamics and structure. Families that experience greater levels of impact, such as financial difficulties, loss of property, and changes in their social support network, often report greater levels of family conflict and lower levels of family functioning and cohesion (Cao et al. 2013, Uttervall et al. 2014). Although the empirical evidence is largely cross-sectional and somewhat mixed, overall, children exposed to disaster appear to be at greater risk of mental health problems in homes with high levels of conflict. hostile/anxious parenting styles, caregiver distress, low family connectedness, a downward change in family functioning, and either excessive or inadequate information about the disaster (Cobham et al. 2016). Several studies have assessed these factors using longitudinal (Bountress et al. 2020) or prospective (e.g., Bokszczanin 2008) designs. Structural equation modeling indicates complex and often reciprocal relationships between parental distress, child distress, and parent-child conflict and communication. In a study of families exposed to a tornado disaster (Bountress et al. 2020), the level of direct experience of a tornado disaster predicted both parental distress and adolescent traumatic stress 8 months after the tornado. Importantly, 8-month adolescent traumatic stress also predicted increased parental distress at 12 months, and, reciprocally, 8-month parental distress predicted increased adolescent traumatic stress at 12 months. Additionally, 8and 12-month parent-child conflict/communication contributed to adolescent traumatic stress at 12- and 24-month follow ups.

At the community level, disaster events can exert a collective impact that alters not only individual and family experiences of the event but also the context in which post-disaster recovery occurs (Tierney & Oliver-Smith 2012). Disasters often permanently reshape communities, with potential impacts on the infrastructure and organizational ecology of the community that ripple through and alter socioeconomic and sociopolitical patterns (Arcaya et al. 2020). Individual and community impacts are intricately interwoven and often reciprocally interacting with each other. For example, traditional sources of support that individuals may have previously relied upon can shift as other individuals and groups of the community concordantly adjust to the events. One study found that the extent of community cohesion was mediated by the severity of the disaster. Although cohesion was high initially, as severity increased survivors tended to shift focus

to individual interests, resulting in an overall decrease in community cohesion (Chang 2010). Similarly, a disaster event can create economic pressures that undermine individuals' capacity to engage with their communities, restrict social interactions, or result in mass relocation. These consequences, in turn, can increase social conflict and undermine social connectedness and other crucial resources for recovery (Kaniasty 2020, Xu et al. 2016).

TRAUMA, POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER, AND THE RESILIENCE TRAJECTORY

With the advent of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a formal diagnostic category in 1980, violent or life-threatening events, including disasters, were routinely understood through a narrow binary lens that focuses on either PTSD or its absence. Although the dominance of a binary approach was initially useful in advancing research and treatment of trauma-related psychopathology, it has until recently stifled other crucial avenues of research. For one, it tends to ignore the failings of psychiatric diagnoses (Bonanno et al. 2010, Conway et al. 2021, Frances & Widiger 2012). The complexity of the diagnostic algorithm for PTSD, for example, produces surprisingly heterogeneous symptom presentations that likely exacerbate both measurement error and diagnostic uncertainty (Galatzer-Levy & Bryant 2013). Even more problematic, a binary model says almost nothing about other possible trauma outcomes, including stable healthy adaptation or resilience, and is essentially mute on how these diverse outcomes might come about.

Skewed and Heterogeneous Distributions

It is well established that most people exposed to PTEs do not develop PTSD or other psychological disorders (Hoppen & Morina 2019, Kessler et al. 2017). This can be seen in the skewed distribution histograms of PTSD and other types of symptoms depicted in **Figure 1**. Each of these distributions was measured in the early months after exposure to a loss or PTE. In a binary approach, the data of interest lie in the elongated tail of each distribution, where individuals with PTSD and other forms of psychopathology might be diagnosable. All remaining individuals, the bulk of the sample, are then simply lumped together into a larger category of those who did not develop psychopathology. Bonanno (2004) challenged this view, arguing that responses to PTEs



Figure 1





Figure 2

Prototypical outcome trajectories in relation to a potentially traumatic event (PTE). Figure adapted with permission from Bonanno (2004).

are heterogeneous and can be characterized by several distinct, prototypical trajectories of outcome. These include emerging chronic symptom elevations, a gradual recovery pattern, delayed symptom elevations, and the most common pattern of resilience, defined as a "stable trajectory of healthy functioning across time" (Bonanno 2004, p. 21). The histograms in **Figure 1** suggest that even at a cross-section, there are clues to the existence of such diverse patterns. Specifically, the distributions are not smooth but rather suggest multiple latent clusters or subgroups—i.e., a multimodal distribution—that might underlie divergent trajectories (Bonanno 2004). Each of the distribution histograms in **Figure 1** was, in fact, derived from longitudinal investigations (Bonanno et al. 2002, 2012; deRoon-Cassini et al. 2010) that observed distinct trajectories of symptoms.

Highly Replicable Outcome Trajectories

Initial attempts to identify trajectories of change following PTEs relied on simple decision algorithms (e.g., Bonanno et al. 2002). Later, it became possible to identify latent trajectories using unsupervised ML tools, such as Latent Growth Mixture Modeling (LGMM), that discovered previously unidentified groups of individuals who shared similar trajectories over time and, importantly, differed substantively from one other (Grimm et al. 2017, Muthén 2004) (see **Figure 2**). It is important to note that LGMM is not a diagnostic tool that classifies observed change behavior. Rather, this approach first characterizes latent distributions of change in a data set and then probabilistically determines which distribution (i.e., trajectory) each individual in the data set most likely belongs to. Due to the probabilistic approach, some interpretive caution is warranted, as factors other than those favored by a researcher (e.g., sampling bias) could plausibly inform a given trajectory solution (Bauer & Curran 2003). For this reason, replication of trajectory patterns becomes imperative (Grimm et al. 2017).

Over the past decade, research on trajectories following PTEs has met the replication criterion many times over. Not all data sets share the same properties or level of methodological rigor, of course, and in some cases trajectory models fail to produce interpretable solutions. However, a recent comprehensive review of 54 studies that evaluated 67 trajectory analyses of potential responses to PTEs (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018a) demonstrated common trajectories across diverse

contexts and metrics (Figure 2) as well as common proportions for these trajectories that varied meaningfully based on individual and population parameters. Specifically, the large number of studies included in the review made it possible to derive parameter estimates for distinct trajectories that were agnostic to modeling approach, study design (e.g., prospective, longitudinal), type of outcome scale (e.g., PTSD, depression, anxiety, grief), or type of PTE (e.g., combat, traumatic injury, loss, life-threatening medical events).

The modal outcome across these diverse studies was again the resilience trajectory of stable, low symptom levels. The resilience trajectory was almost always the majority response, observed on average in two-thirds (66%) of a study's participants. The next most prevalent trajectory, recovery (23.4%), was characterized by initially elevated symptoms that steadily abated, followed by a chronic high-symptom trajectory (11.7%) and a delayed symptom increase trajectory (9.7%). These trajectories were derived using LGMM and related modeling approaches and encompassed both longitudinal and prospective data sets. Sources of heterogeneity in these estimates resulted primarily from population differences across studies rather than from sampling bias. Of note, the prevalence of resilience and other trajectories was comparable to the findings of earlier studies that used less computationally sophisticated trajectory modeling approaches (e.g., Bonanno et al. 2002), suggesting broad replication across methods.

The Resilience Blind Spot

When couched in terms of the broad and sweeping impacts of disaster, the idea of psychological resilience might seem improbable if not impossible. The anguish and anxiety experienced by individuals directly impacted by disaster spread easily across broad swaths of a population through the mechanism of emotional contagion, such that even those not directly affected may feel heightened distress (Perrin et al. 2009). Anxiety and emotional contagion are further accentuated by continuous media attention and the steady stream of provocative images, on-thespot interviews, analyses, and regularly updated outcome metrics it produces (Looi et al. 2020, Neria & Sullivan 2011). Together, these factors tend to focus public attention on only the direst psychological outcomes, while simultaneously obscuring awareness of the prevalence of psychological resilience. This phenomenon has been referred to metaphorically as a resilience blind spot (Bonanno 2021a,b).

The underestimation of resilient outcomes is often reinforced in early pronouncements from the mental health community. In the aftermath of the 9/11 terrorist disaster, for example, New York city health officials anticipated a looming "mental health crisis" and "began making preparations to train an army of volunteer therapists" (Goode & Eakin 2002), while the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) earmarked well over a hundred million dollars (the equivalent of hundreds of millions today) to provide the city with free counseling to all those who might seek it. Although many suffered enduring trauma symptoms from the event, the forecasted widespread mental health crisis never materialized (Bonanno 2021a). Nearly the same sequence occurred at the onset of the more recent COVID-19 pandemic. Early on, mental health experts warned of "a historic wave of mental health problems" that would likely overwhelm the country's mental health system (Wan 2020). Again, although there were some people with lasting psychological difficulties, the sweeping mental health crisis did not materialize. Indeed, as we discuss below for both the 9/11 attacks and the COVID-19 pandemic, resilience, and not lasting psychopathology, was the dominant response.

TRAJECTORY STUDIES OF DISASTER OUTCOMES

Disaster studies have typically relied on cross-sectional and sometimes longitudinal-correlational research. Although these studies provide basic information regarding psychological distress in the

Resilience trajectory: a stable trajectory of good mental health following a highly potentially traumatic event or disaster

Resilience blind spot: the tendency to misinterpret initial distress following a potentially traumatic event or disaster as long-term trauma with minimal possibility of resilience aftermath of disaster, they are inherently limited, at best capturing a snapshot of immediate sequelae or overall group change but failing to consider more diverse variations in the psychological adjustment over time. While it is important to consider the overall impact of disasters, these limitations have often led to exaggerated ranges of prevalence (Bonanno et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2020). Moreover, because these studies typically assess outcomes unidimensionally, as symptom levels or psychiatric disorders, they have tended to neglect assessments of optimal functioning.

To more robustly interrogate the psychological responses following disasters, longitudinal and prospective studies have increasingly modeled evolving trajectories of psychological outcomes. The four prototypical trajectories repeatedly observed in the aftermath of PTEs, discussed above, have also been observed in the context of disaster. As in research with PTEs broadly, the most common pattern was the stable trajectory of low symptoms and distress—that is, resilience.

Natural and Human-Made Disasters

In the aftermath of natural disasters such as hurricanes and tsunamis, most individuals evidenced a resilient trajectory, regardless of age and time elapsed since the disaster (Johannesson et al. 2015. Pietrzak et al. 2013, Self-Brown et al. 2013). Among older adults residing in areas heavily impacted by Hurricane Ike, for example, 79% were resilient, exhibiting low or no PTSD symptoms across assessments at 3, 6, and 15 months after the disaster, while only 16% and 5% of the participants fell under chronic and delayed-onset trajectories, respectively (Pietrzak et al. 2013). Two years following Hurricane Katrina, similar findings emerged for youth and their mothers (Self-Brown et al. 2013). Specifically, 66% of mothers impacted by Katrina exhibited little or no PTSD symptoms (i.e., resilience), a percentage far exceeding those with chronic (4%) and recovery (30%) trajectories (Self-Brown et al. 2013). Another study examining PTSD symptoms among youth impacted by Katrina identified the same three trajectories, with resilience as the predominant pattern (70%). followed by recovery (27%) and chronic (4%) trajectories (Self-Brown et al. 2013), while another study found that in the aftermath of the Wenchuan earthquake, 81.6% adolescents exhibited low PTSD symptoms (Zhou et al. 2018) and 68% had low to no sleep problems (Zhou et al. 2019). A study that examined posttraumatic stress in Swedish tourists exposed to the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami 1, 3, and 6 years after the disaster found that 72.3% of the sample remained resilient (Johannesson et al. 2015).

Although a few studies have reported lower resilience rates, these studies typically identified an additional trajectory with a low number of symptoms that never exceeded clinical level. For example, in a study of posttraumatic stress symptoms in children following Hurricane Andrew (La Greca et al. 2013, Lai et al. 2015), 37% of the children showed a low-symptom resilient trajectory, while another 43% showed initially moderate, subthreshold symptoms that dissipated to low levels within the first 10 months of the study. When combined, these two patterns captured 80% of the sample. Another study examined depression trajectories among mothers impacted by Hurricane Katrina (Lai et al. 2015) and found that 29% evidenced a resilience trajectory while another 61% participants fell into a "low" trajectory with mild levels of symptoms over time. Again, when combining these two groups, it is more than evident that most mothers in this study exhibited few to almost no symptoms over time.

Some natural disaster studies have also reported additional trajectories besides the four prototypical patterns. However, these trajectories are often of very low frequency. For example, in a study examining sleep problems following the Wenchuan earthquake, a U-shaped trajectory was identified (Zhou et al. 2019) that was evident in only 3.8% of the sample. However, given the imperative need to replicate these trajectories, classes comprising less than 5% of a sample are typically unreliable in comparison to the more likely replication of trajectories with higher prevalence rate across samples (Nylund-Gibson & Choi 2018). Human-made disasters, such as terrorist attacks and mass shootings, have also evidenced a high prevalence for the resilience trajectory (Maslow et al. 2015, Nandi et al. 2009, Orcutt et al. 2014, Pietrzak et al. 2014). The resilience trajectory was identified as the modal response in the aftermath of the 9/11 terrorist attacks among police officers (78%; Pietrzak et al. 2014) and rescue and recovery workers (53.3%; Maslow et al. 2015). Among residents of the New York City metropolitan area after the 9/11 terrorist attack, Nandi et al. (2009) reported two low depression symptoms trajectories: one with a mean near zero (39%) and another, falling well below the subclinical level, with a mean of fewer than two depression symptoms (34%). When combined, these two groups indicate that a clear majority of the sample exhibited a resilience trajectory of little or no depression.

Trajectory Studies Based on Prospective Data

The resilience trajectory has been consistently shown to capture a majority of individuals, following both natural and human-made disasters. Yet, these proportions likely underestimate the true prevalence of resilience. Disasters are unpredictable, and psychological data on disaster reactions are commonly obtained retrospectively in the months and years after the disaster's onset. Critically, however, retrospect sampling has been shown to bias trajectory estimates in the direction of greater psychopathology and reduced resilience (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018a).

A ready antidote to this problem is prospective trajectory research (i.e., mapping trajectories from before to after a major event). Although prospective studies are more difficult to carry out, a growing body of research has leveraged this approach. One study, for example, followed college women prior to a campus mass shooting disaster and continued to do so through 6 assessments across 30 months post-shooting (Orcutt et al. 2014). The majority (61%) were classified in a resilient trajectory of minimal posttraumatic stress symptoms across all time points. Another 29% of this sample showed a recovery trajectory, with a dramatic increase in PTSD after the shooting that returned to a minimal level by 6 months, while a third small group (8%) also had initial symptom elevations but experienced a more gradual recovery. Another prospective study, examining lowincome women before and after Hurricane Katrina, classified 62% as resilient and another 22% as showing a recovery trajectory (Lowe & Rhodes 2013). Although prospective studies typically examine a single PTE, one disaster study managed to map depression trajectories from repeated assessments beginning prior to the 2008 economic crisis and culminating after Hurricane Sandy in 2012 (Mandavia & Bonanno 2019). A robust majority (84%) of the sample evidenced a resilient trajectory of low depressive symptoms throughout. This study also identified a novel trajectory of incremental chronic depression characterized by an increase in depression after the 2008 economic crisis and a further increase in symptoms, among the same participants, following Hurricane Sandy. The incremental depression pattern was also the only trajectory linked to significant PTSD symptoms following the hurricane.

COVID-19 AND OTHER PANDEMICS

Pandemics are health-related disaster events that encompass a wide geographic area, include multiple countries or continents, and typically affect large numbers of people (Kelly 2011). As a result of the pandemics' evolving nature, the psychological challenges pandemics present tend to vary markedly over time. For example, the global outbreak of the novel coronavirus disease in late 2019 (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in 2020 and eventually spread across the globe, infecting hundreds of millions and causing millions of deaths. The initial spread of the virus was accompanied by predictable spikes in distress and psychopathology symptoms (Han et al. 2021). These initial responses were characterized by a multifaceted network of related symptoms, with COVID-19 danger and contamination fears at the core (Taylor et al. 2020). Over time, other potentially deleterious secondary consequences cascaded across multiple dimensions (Zhang et al. 2022), including economic loss (Lei et al. 2020), unemployment (Achdut & Refaeli 2020), forced social isolation, and inadequate physical space (Pancani et al. 2021).

The initial psychological cost of the pandemic, coupled with the possibility of cascading waves of secondary impacts, prompted urgent predictions of an unprecedented global mental health epidemic that would likely overwhelm health service resources (Hisham et al. 2021). Despite this dire prognosis, longer-term research on COVID-19, when it became available, revealed a pattern of findings broadly consistent with the literature on disaster resilience. A meta-analysis of prospective and longitudinal COVID-19 studies, for example, indicated that the experience of lockdowns, which many feared would cause significant psychological damage, resulted in only minor overall effects on mental health and no significant effects on positive aspects of psychological functioning, such as well-being and life satisfaction (Prati & Mancini 2021). Complementarily, despite predictions of dramatic increases in suicide (Weems et al. 2020), a time-series analysis comparing data from 21 countries on suicide rates before and during COVID-19 found that suicide prevalence had remained essentially unchanged during the pandemic, and in some countries had even declined (Pirkis et al. 2021).

Trajectory studies bring the prevalence of resilience during pandemics into even greater relief. One of the first applications of the trajectory approach examined hospitalized survivors of the 2003 severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) pandemic in Hong Kong (Bonanno et al. 2008). SARS was highly virulent and resulted in alarmingly high mortality rates, especially in the Hong Kong region. Nonetheless, although a large portion of hospitalized SARS survivors from Hong Kong experienced chronically poor mental health, another sizeable portion evidenced a resilience trajectory of stable mental health. Similar findings emerged during the COVID-19 pandemic in trajectory studies conducted across the globe. The resilience trajectory was observed in the majority of individuals assessed during the pandemic in, for example, the United Kingdom (Hyland et al. 2021, Pearce et al. 2021, Shevlin et al. 2023), Poland (Gambin et al. 2023), Israel (Kimhi et al. 2021), the United States (Shilton et al. 2021), Germany (Ahrens et al. 2021), France (Pellerin et al. 2022). Australia (Batterham et al. 2022), China (Chen et al. 2022), and Argentina (Fernández et al. 2022). A recent review of 28 trajectory studies conducted during COVID-19 indicated a striking level of similarity with trajectory studies conducted prior to the pandemic (Schäfer et al. 2022). The resilience trajectory was, in fact, observed at essentially an identical prevalence, 66% on average across studies, as in pre-pandemic studies (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018a). The chronic symptom and delayed symptom trajectories were also observed at a similar frequency. However, there were two meaningful exceptions. The recovery trajectory was less prevalent during COVID-19 (13%) than in pre-pandemic studies (21%). Additionally, a trajectory of mild/moderate distress, relatively uncommon in pre-pandemic analyses (15%; Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018a), was observed almost twice as frequently (27%) in pandemic studies, likely the result of the more extended course of the pandemic.

CORRELATES OF RESILIENCE IN THE AFTERMATH OF DISASTER

Trajectory models of disaster outcome afford researchers a valuable opportunity to interrogate predictive correlates of long-term mental health patterns. A surprisingly large number of factors have been shown to correlate with resilience outcomes (for reviews, see Bonanno et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2020, Newnham et al. 2022, Schäfer et al. 2022). For example, among individuals experiencing the Indian Ocean tsunami, the number of stressors—an index often used to quantify exposure severity—was associated with decreased likelihood of being in a resilience trajectory

(Johannesson et al. 2015). The nature of a specific stressor, another way to conceptualize exposure severity, has also been identified as a correlate of disaster trajectories. For example, initial loss, daily disruptions, and community violence differentiated between chronic and resilience trajectories of PTSD symptoms among youth impacted by Hurricane Katrina (Self-Brown et al. 2013). The subjective perception of threat appears to be especially crucial. For example, perceptions of danger during the 9/11 terrorist attacks were associated with decreased likelihood of resilience regardless of objective levels of exposure (Bonanno et al. 2005).

Individual differences in demographics, economic resources, coping and emotion regulation, and genetics are frequently found to correlate with resilience outcomes. Following 9/11, men, older adults, and Asians were more likely to be resilient, while, conversely, those who experienced income loss were less likely to (Bonanno et al. 2007). When facing natural disasters, resilient outcomes were more likely among individuals with higher levels of educational attainment and more reliable employment (Mandavia & Bonanno 2019, Tang et al. 2014). Unsurprisingly, preexisting mental illness and other psychopathology symptoms have often been identified as predictors for more symptomatic (i.e., nonresilient) trajectories (Heid et al. 2016, Mandavia & Bonanno 2019, Zhou et al. 2019), while higher negative affect (Mandavia & Bonanno 2019), poorer emotion regulation (La Greca et al. 2013), and decreased flexibility (Westphal et al. 2010) have been associated with a reduced likelihood of being in a resilience trajectory. Moving from intrapersonal to interpersonal, social support has been commonly identified as a correlate of resilience following both natural and human-made disasters (Bonanno et al. 2007, Lai et al. 2015, Mandavia & Bonanno 2019). Although relatively few studies have examined resilience at the family and community level, emerging evidence indicates that higher social cohesion (Heid et al. 2016), lower crime rates (Mandavia & Bonanno 2019), and less community exposure to disaster (Gruebner et al. 2016) are associated with resilience outcomes.

THE RESILIENCE PARADOX

How do we make sense of the many factors associated with resilient outcomes? One particularly common explanation is that not all traits and behaviors associated with resilience are important, but only the most meaningful are. By this logic, people who have acquired the key traits and behaviors have a resilience personality that allows them to adapt well in the face of future adversity (Skodol 2010). The idea is intuitively appealing and has the bonus that it can be easily measured by self-report questionnaires.

Unfortunately, there are significant problems with the resilience personality concept. For starters, although several resilience scales have been published (e.g., Connor & Davidson 2003, Gartland et al. 2011), each tends to include different traits. If people are resilient because they possess the key ingredients, as these scales assume, then each scale is necessarily incomplete. Complementarily, these scales fail to explain why so many of the empirically identified correlates of resilient outcomes are not included in the personality, or why these factors may nonetheless still influence resilient outcomes. Most critically, although resilience scales are generally correlated with health and well-being, they do not hold up to their promise when tested in longitudinal or prospective research.

Resilience Scales Do Not Predict Resilience

A true test of a resilience personality scale is whether the scale actually predicts future resilient outcomes. To our knowledge, no such data exist. Alternatively, a less stringent test would examine whether a resilience scale predicted future mental health after the occurrence of a PTE, net of baseline mental health. Although resilience scales have been developed for specific use in the context of disasters, the predictive validity of these scales has not been reported. Five studies have, however, tested the predictive validity of resilience scales across a range of PTEs. Three studies assessed resilience scales prospectively among samples of military peacekeepers prior to deployment (Thomassen et al. 2015), a sample of police trainees prior to active-duty police work (van der Meulen et al. 2018), and a representative sample of the Israeli population prior to the so-called July 2015 wave of terror (Kimhi et al. 2020). A fourth study assessed a resilience scale longitudinally in active-duty police officers (Marchand et al. 2015). In each case, the resilience scale failed to effectively predict post-adversity mental health over and above baseline mental health.

Resilience scales also fail to predict future resilience to stress following adversity. Another prospective study, of relevance for this article, had fortuitously assessed two different types of resilience scales, one measuring trait resilience and another measuring resilience as a process (Engert et al. 2021). The researchers then examined the ability of these scales to predict biological and psychological stress reactivity 8 months later, well into the pandemic. Neither resilience scale showed any predictive effects. Another study tested whether a resilience questionnaire predicted responses to stress in a controlled experimental setting (Roth & Herzberg 2017). In this study, students first completed the resilience personality measure and then participated in a stress test in which they were required to give an oral presentation with minimal time for preparation to a purported panel of experts who would determine their suitability for university study. Students scoring as resilient personalities reported low distress both before and after the stress test. while the supposed nonresilient students reported greater distress after the task. On objective measures, however, such as physiological and nonverbal markers of stress, all students, including the resilient personalities, evidenced increased stress during the presentation task. In summarizing these findings, the authors concluded that the resilience personality may be nothing more than a "self-deception artifact" (Roth & Herzberg 2017).

Small Effects, Situational Variability, and Cost-Benefit Trade-Offs

Why would scales comprised of traits that are generally associated with resilience not actually predict resilience? The most salient reason, hiding in plain sight as it were, is the resilience paradox (Bonanno 2021a,b). The paradox describes the fact that although many purported resiliencepromoting factors correlate with resilient outcomes, the size of their associations with actual resilient outcomes is almost always modest. Moreover, because these factors tend to correlate with each other, when combined their individual contributions tend to be even smaller. Thus, the individual correlates of resilient outcomes are at best weak predictors of future resilient outcomes.

It is important to point out here that small effects by themselves are not a fatal problem. Rather, they are an unavoidable, even essential, consideration in psychological science (Funder & Ozer 2019, Götz et al. 2022). The difficulties arise only when we fail to consider the nature of small effects or assume that such effects are more influential than they truly are. This failure is evident in many conceptions of resilience and is especially pernicious in programs designed to build resilience (Chmitorz et al. 2018).

A well-known contributor to small effect sizes is situational variability. Although this consideration is often disregarded when considering resilience, the challenges inherent in PTEs vary markedly across events. Situational variability is even more pronounced in the context of the intense and unpredictable course of disasters. Coping with a hurricane, for instance, is different than coping with a disease pandemic, which in turn presents unique challenges compared to a large-scale terrorist attack. Disasters also produce variability within the same event over time: The challenges a person must confront at the onset of a disaster are likely to change many times over in the days and weeks following the event. Another underappreciated contributor to small effects is the natural cost-benefit trade-off inherent in virtually all human and animal behaviors (Georgiev et al. 2013, Hubel et al. 2016). A classic example from the animal literature is the peacock's colorful tail. The stunningly beautiful colors of the peacock's tail appear to have evolved for the primary purpose of enticing the peahen to mate. This benefit, however, is counterbalanced by significant costs. For one, the tail is heavy and makes flying much more difficult. Even more crucially, the size and bright colors of the tail are a clear signal to predators of the precise location of a large, meaty bird that cannot easily escape (Darwin 1871, Prum 2017).

Most conceptions of resilience ignore these considerations. These theories propose a small number of essential resilience-promoting factors (Chmitorz et al. 2018) with little or no acknowledgment of their situational variations or possible costs. This oversight is known as the fallacy of uniform efficacy (Bonanno & Burton 2013). The empirical evidence shows clearly that the consequences of different strategies and behaviors are far more equivocal. Research shows, for example, that social support, one of the most commonly identified resilience-promoting factors, is neither universally adaptive across situations nor free of costs (McClure et al. 2014, Southwick et al. 2016). Depending on the cause of their distress, people may feel incapable of social interactions and the reciprocity they require (Bonanno 2021a). Even when support is possible and effectively creates feelings of closeness, it may nonetheless still increase distress (Gleason et al. 2008), particularly if the quality of support is low (Afifi et al. 2013). Social support can also result in the loss of equity in relationships (Gleason et al. 2003) as well as a sense of reduced personal efficacy (Bolger & Amarel 2007). Beyond social support, situational variation and cost-benefit trade-offs have also been shown to characterize other widely touted resilience-promoting factors, such as positive emotions (Gruber et al. 2011, Kalokerinos et al. 2017) and cognitive reappraisal (Troy et al. 2013).

Complementarily, behaviors assumed to be generally maladaptive, such as emotional suppression or focusing on threat, have been found to be highly adaptive in some situations (Bonanno et al. 2004, Galatzer-Levy et al. 2014b, Messman-Moore & Brown 2006). For example, although there is evidence for the short-term costs of suppressing emotional expression, a meta-analysis of over 300 experimental studies indicated that there was considerable variability across studies and experimental contexts, and on balance expressive suppression was moderately effective (Webb et al. 2012). Studies that measured expressive suppression as an ability have linked that ability to positive long-term outcomes. For example, the ability to suppress emotional expression measured after the 9/11 terrorist attacks predicted reduced distress 2 years after the attack, net of initial distress (Bonanno et al. 2004). It is important to note, here as well, that the efficacy of any regulatory strategy will also depend on other possible contextual factors, including the proximal use of other regulatory behaviors and strategies (Chen et al. 2018) and overall regulatory ability (Tull & Aldao 2015).

MODELING COMPLEX TIME-SPECIFIC DATA

How, then, can we predict and promote resilience when resilience is the result of highly individualized, time-specific small effects that interact with contextual factors and even each other (Kalisch et al. 2017)? Traditional statistical approaches, which are designed to test null hypotheses regarding a narrow set of predictors, are not equipped to adequately respond to this question. Increasingly, however, a class of mathematical algorithms that attempt to learn reproducible patterns from data, generally subsumed under the rubric of ML, have been increasingly employed to overcome these limitations (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018b).

Fallacy of uniform efficacy:

the assumption that a trait or behavior is uniformly adaptive with little or no cost

Supervised and Unsupervised Machine Learning

Unsupervised and supervised machine learning (ML): unsupervised ML learns relationships between variables without reference to a defined category, while supervised ML learns to predict defined categories Two classes of algorithms have most commonly been applied to understand the complex interplay between mechanisms and outcomes following potential trauma. The first, unsupervised ML, aims to learn relationships between variables without reference to an explicit outcome, such as a diagnosis. Unsupervised models reduce data complexity by identifying latent (not directly observable) structures that can be applied to render the information in high-dimensional data more accessible. Examples include principal components analysis, which seeks to extract shared variance components across features, and LGMM, as discussed above, which takes a data-driven approach to identify latent trajectories of responses.

A second class of algorithms, supervised ML, aims to learn and apply a function that accurately predicts a specified outcome, such as trajectories, based on a set of inputs (Mohri et al. 2018). While there are many different types of supervised algorithms, with each operating somewhat differently, generally they follow an initial model-training step in which the algorithms either separate predefined groups (supervised classification) or predict a real number value (supervised regression). Such approaches build on traditional statistical hypothesis testing through model optimization, in which myriad relationships between variables are tested as predictors of outcome. The ultimate aim of supervised ML models, however, is to integrate knowledge into an automated framework that is pragmatically effective in making predictions in new scenarios. For this reason, model testing in supervised ML eschews traditional probability values, which compare relationships in the data against chance, and instead use metrics of accuracy in predicting new cases. Supervised ML algorithms make new predictions by applying weights (akin to beta weights in regression) to predictor inputs that have been learned through the model-training and optimization steps with the goal of reproducing the same accuracy of prediction in new situations (for a basic primer on ML, see James et al. 2021 and the companion website at https://www.statlearning.com).

Combining Machine Learning Approaches to Enhance Prediction

ML approaches of various kinds are often combined to model more complex representations of the world. Our team has begun to use supervised models to predict unsupervised trajectories of outcome following aversive life events, a combination that has been shown to increase predictive accuracy over conventional methods (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2014a). Below we review two recent studies that used the combined approach to examine PTEs in general and a third study that recently employed the combined approach in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic disaster.

Schultebraucks et al. (2020) examined a large set of biological and psychological measures, obtained during admission to an Emergency Department following a potential trauma, as predictors of subsequent trajectories of PTSD symptoms, including the low-symptom resilience trajectory. This early window for prediction is appealing to both researchers and clinicians, as multiple assessment measures are obtainable as part of routine care. However, although many of these assessment measures have independently shown associations with posttraumatic stress in previous studies, similar to the resilience paradox their ability to robustly predict longitudinal outcomes has been relatively poor. By utilizing a combined ML classification method, this study showed that the algorithmic combination of early measures was able to more reliably predict resilience and other symptom trajectories over the subsequent 12 months. Moreover, the resulting algorithm demonstrated equivariant accuracy in another, independent population from a different emergency room using data collected by an independent research team.

In another study, Schultebraucks et al. (2021) used the combined approach to model genetic predictors of resilience and depression symptom trajectories in a population-based data set of

individuals exposed to diverse PTEs. A conventional genomic analysis tests candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms against a clinical diagnosis. However, this approach has failed to produce robust effects and has proved uninformative about broader patterns of dysfunction and resilience (Border et al. 2019). To address these limitations, Schultebraucks et al. (2021) examined the predictive accuracy of 21 unique polygenic risk and protective scores. Each polygenic score had previously been abstracted from genome-wide association studies of psychiatric disorders, biological mechanisms, psychological characteristics, or health-related cognitive and behavioral indices. Schultebraucks et al. (2021) combined 21 polygenic scores in a deep neural net to predict the overall trajectory patterns and showed clear improvement in discriminatory accuracy.

Recently, we applied the combined ML approach to disaster, specifically to assess the immediate aftermath of the strict COVID-19 lockdown in Hubei, China (Chen et al. 2022). The question of how large urban areas might best manage a major disease outbreak has become an imperative global concern. The Hubei province in China was an ideal location to examine this question as the COVID-19 pandemic first emerged there and, subsequently, the region experienced one of the strictest lockdowns to date. To capture the large range of factors that might influence pandemic outcome, we assessed 59 possible predictors, including both person-level variables, such as optimism, body mass index, COVID-19 worries and fears, and information consumption, and context-level variables, such as housing prices, number of local COVID-19-equipped hospitals, neighborhood socioeconomic status, and urban versus rural residence. Using unsupervised ML, we identified trajectories for three different symptom types: depression, anxiety, and PTSD. Then, we used Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO)—a type of supervised ML to demonstrate that various combinations of variables effectively predicted the resilience and chronic symptom trajectories.

RESILIENCE THROUGH REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY

Despite their computational sophistication, the combined ML models described above fall short of fully addressing the resilience paradox. On a practical level, for example, at least some of the predictors accommodated in ML models are likely to be unavailable or inaccessible, which is an especially relevant concern in the aftermath of chaotic and unpredictable events like disasters. When this happens, predictive accuracy drops precipitously. In Schultebraucks et al.'s (2020) Emergency Department study, discriminatory accuracy was reduced to a fair level when only biological variables were considered and was even weaker, falling to a poor level, when only psychological variables were considered. A related concern is that, although overall prediction for ML models is generally robust, the predictive accuracy of specific trajectory patterns varies markedly. In Schultebraucks et al.'s (2021) study of polygenic scores, prediction was in the excellent range for the chronic depression trajectory but only in the fair range for the resilience trajectory, while in Chen et al.'s (2022) China lockdown study, this pattern was reversed.

Predictive concerns aside, an even more critical issue is that ML models have not yet illuminated the mechanisms by which individuals facing extreme adversity make sense of and utilize the complex array of behaviors, traits, and resources potentially available to them. Given the wellreplicated evidence that most people show resilient outcomes, even in high-uncertainty situations like disasters, it is reasonable to conclude that most people are also able to accomplish this task. But how? It is generally accepted that the human brain rapidly generates goal-based predictions based on prior experience and then adjusts those predictions according to feedback generated through exploratory behavior (Lillicrap et al. 2020). While such processes can be understood in terms of basic computational and neurobiological processes, it remains unclear how they might translate to the task of adapting to complex, unpredictable, and larger-scale scenarios such as disasters.



Figure 3

Motivational and mechanistic components of regulatory flexibility. Figure adapted with permission from Bonanno & Burton (2013).

A promising solution is suggested by the burgeoning literature on regulatory flexibility (Bonanno & Burton 2013, Cheng et al. 2014, Kashdan & Rottenberg 2010). Although theoretical conceptions of flexibility vary in scope and focus, they share two fundamental components: a motivational component that propels individuals to adjust their behavior to match situational challenges, and a mechanistic component through which those adjustments come about. These components, which we refer to here as the flexibility mindset and flexibility sequence, respectively, have been proposed as the primary means by which trauma-exposed individuals reach resilient outcomes (Bonanno 2021a,b). We review each component in more detail below and graphically in **Figure 3**.

Motivation: The Flexibility Mindset

Motivation is intrinsic to flexible adaptation. The processes implicated in both motivation and flexibility show overlapping neural pathways (Keefer et al. 2021) and utilize similar neuromodulators (Jahn et al. 2018). The motivational processes specific to psychological flexibility can be summarized in several interrelated attitudes or beliefs that together form a broad conviction, or flexibility mindset (Bonanno 2021a,b). The beliefs that comprise the flexibility mindset also correlate with resilience, albeit with the same modest effects as other correlates. We argue in this case that their modest effect on resilient outcomes is due to their indirect relationship as motivating factors for the more direct mechanisms of flexibility. One such belief, captured in the tendency toward optimism, serves a motivational function by instilling a willingness to make the adjustments necessary to bring about an expected positive future (Carver & Scheier 2014). Research during the COVID-19 pandemic revealed that the link between stress and mental health was mediated by a path from optimism to flexibility, which, in turn, led to reduced psychological problems and better mental health (Arslan & Yıldırım 2021). Optimism, in turn, has evidenced bidirectional connections with two other motivating factors also associated with both flexibility and resilience (Bonanno 2021a): the belief in one's ability to cope effectively, known as coping self-efficacy (Benight & Cieslak 2011, Zimmer-Gembeck 2021), and the tendency to view threats as challenges, known as challenge appraisal (Delegach & Katz-Navon 2021).

Flexibility mindset: interrelated beliefs or attitudes that form a broad motivational conviction that adaptation to adversity is possible

Flexibility sequence: three components of flexible selfregulation—context sensitivity, repertoire, and feedback—that unfold in sequential order Together, these mutually reinforcing beliefs appear to synergistically create a powerful conviction (Bonanno 2021a,b) that can serve an especially important motivating function in the context of disasters. The high level of distress and uncertainty inherent in disasters renders these events not only difficult to cope with but also difficult to comprehend. Beliefs that there is value in embracing the challenge, and that one is able to, and ultimately will, effectively move forward to a positive future, provide the motivational thrust needed to process these events, both cognitively and emotionally, and to initiate the behavioral adjustments they might require.

There are, of course, other motivations that may come into play, including those that could impede flexibility. For instance, the need for closure, characterized by an intolerance of ambiguity and uncertainty, has been shown to reduced flexibility (Cheng 2003). Individuals high on the need for closure become inflexible when they seize on an immediate solution or habitual regulatory strategy, and then they rigidly fix on that solution without considering other possible alternatives. In the high-uncertainty context of disaster, this propensity would likely exert a strong negative impact on flexible responding.

Mechanism: The Flexibility Sequence

Psychological flexibility was originally operationalized along a single flexibility/inflexibility questionnaire dimension (Bond et al. 2011, Hayes et al. 2004). Although recently expanded (Kashdan et al. 2020), this approach still says little about underlying mechanisms. Experimental research on flexible regulation, on the other hand, implicates several distinct mechanisms (Aldao et al. 2015, Bonanno & Burton 2013, Cheng et al. 2014) that can be summarized in three sequential steps, context sensitivity, repertoire, and feedback, referred to collectively as the flexibility sequence (Bonanno 2021a,b).

The efficacy of regulatory behaviors is heavily dependent on the situational context in which they occur (Aldao 2013). Accordingly, the first step in the flexibility sequence, context sensitivity (Bonanno & Burton 2013; see also Cheng 2003 on discriminative facility), involves decoding a situation's unique challenges and opportunities and then determining a goal for subsequent behavior. Goals are typically proximal (e.g., reducing distress or solving an immediate problem) but may also incorporate longer-term aims and values (e.g., preparing for future difficulties or caring for loved ones) (Aldao et al. 2015, Cheng 2001, Kashdan et al. 2020). The ability to assess and utilize contextual information has been linked to better adjustment to adverse events (Bonanno et al. 2020, Coifman & Bonanno 2010), including disaster (Västfjäll et al. 2014) and, recently, the COVID-19 pandemic (Lenzo et al. 2021).

Once a context-relevant goal is established, the next step of the sequence involves the implementation of a strategy from a person's repertoire of possible strategies that offers the highest probability of meeting that goal (Bonanno & Burton 2013). The scope of a strategy repertoire varies across people and the life span (Zimmermann & Iwanski 2014) and, in general, has been associated with improved adjustment in the face of disaster (Bonanno et al. 2004, Chen et al. 2022, Lenzo et al. 2021). Critically, however, effective regulation depends not so much on using multiple strategies but rather on the fit between the implemented strategy and the specific situational challenges (Bonanno et al. 2004, Cheng 2001, Cheng et al. 2014). Situation–strategy fit has been found to be especially important for adaption to the often-changing conditions of disaster (Cheng et al. 2021, Shabat et al. 2021).

A third, crucial step in the sequence involves monitoring and responding to feedback regarding the efficacy of the implemented strategy (Bonanno & Burton 2013). Choosing an optimal regulatory response is essentially a probability estimate, and sometimes that estimate fails to achieve or may even interfere with goal pursuit. This outcome has been described as maladaptive flexibility (Aldao et al. 2015). However, the feedback step of the flexibility sequence accommodates the problem of ineffective strategy choice using the built-in, self-corrective mechanism inherent in the flexibility process. As in ML algorithms, the fit between a strategy estimate and goal-driven expectations can be improved with corrective feedback (Harkin et al. 2016, Rieskamp & Otto 2006). Moreover, although the ability to utilize regulatory feedback varies among individuals, people who effectively update their strategy use through feedback evidence better short-term affective and neurobiological adaptation and overall better mental health (Birk & Bonanno 2016, Dorman Ilan et al. 2019).

Although much of the research on the flexibility sequence has focused on individual steps, recent studies have tested some of the central predictions about the sequence itself. For example, since most people show resilient outcomes, a key prediction is that most people should also be able to utilize all three steps in the sequence (Bonanno 2021b). Consistent with this prediction, latent profile analyses of data from two independent samples found that a majority in both samples had at least a moderate level of skill in all three steps and that the combination of these skills, in turn, was associated with better mental health (Chen & Bonanno 2021). A second key prediction is that psychological adaptation to aversive events comes about via the pathway specified by the flexibility sequence (i.e., context sensitivity to repertoire to feedback). To test this idea, Robinson et al. (2022) employed a series of sequential mediation models to predict three different outcome measures (depression, anxiety, and PTSD) in a trauma-exposed population. Both skill in the individual steps of the sequence and the various combinations of pairs of steps showed modest but inconsistent prediction of the outcomes. Only the serial pathway through all three steps of the sequence consistently predicted better adjustment on all outcome measures.

CAPTURING REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY IN REAL TIME

We reviewed research and theory supportive of the proposition that resilient outcomes in the aftermath of PTEs, including unpredictable, life-threatening events such as disasters, emerge through the process of regulatory flexibility. As this work indicates, regulatory flexibility is not a singular activity but rather involves two related sets of components: a motivational component, consisting of interrelated beliefs centered on the idea that challenges can be overcome with effort, and a mechanistic component, driven by a sequence of steps involving assessment of a situational challenge, selection of a strategic response from one's repertoire of possible responses, and use of feedback to assess, revise, or replace that response as needed. By extension, this work also indicates that the routine and inflexible reliance on any single response, be it repetitive use of a specific coping or emotion regulation strategy or singular reliance on a specific resource, tend to result in poor adaptation and possibly enduring psychopathology.

We argued that regulatory flexibility involves the rapid, iterative, real-time process of optimizing strategy use in service of adaption to a specific challenge. However, a fair assessment of the existing research on flexible self-regulation can only conclude that this research has yet to fully capture how this process unfolds in real time. Although the literature on the components of regulatory flexibility has led to considerable methodological and conceptual advances, with few exceptions research in support of that literature has been limited to questionnaire or laboratory measures obtained at a single point in time, independent of outcome or as a static predictor of future outcomes.

How, then, could this research be organized to better capture flexibility in action? First, to adequately examine the relationship between a more granular flexibility process and adaptation, these data points will need to be nested within changing patterns of adjustment, as captured for example in individual outcome trajectories. To achieve this, a window of measurement will need

to be established, ideally with at least one assessment prior to the PTE to allow for identification of prospective trajectories (Bonanno et al. 2015) and several assessments in the follow-up period to capture variations in outcomes. Interpretation of the resultant trajectories should be couched in comparison to the prototypical trajectories that have been conserved across relevant dimensions of psychological health (e.g., levels of symptoms and distress, sleep quality, and well-being) and commonly exposed populations (e.g., assault victims, first responders, natural disaster survivors).

Second, the concept of flexible adaptation forces us to think beyond main effects and trait predictors and to instead assume interdependent and interacting systems with multiple constituent parts. While behavioral phenomena, such as sleep, are often measured by simple questionnaire items at a cross-section, within this formulation they can instead be recognized for their complex biological, psychological, and social aspects along with how they might change dynamically in response to environmental perturbation. Moderators of interest, in this case, might involve variations in emotion regulation or coping strategies, resource utilization, trait-like propensities, and active or passive social processes and practices.

This approach introduces opportunities across dimensions to assess and triage for risk and possible points of intervention that may influence the trajectory of response. Although the flexibility sequence concept arose out of an empirical tradition, with the bulk of the research aimed at either articulating its components or testing their adaptive influence on long-term adjustment, the concept seems ripe for development as an intervention strategy. Some individuals, for example, have shown clear deficits in specific components of regulatory flexibility that could easily serve as the conceptual basis for specific targeted interventions (Bonanno et al. 2023, Chen & Bonanno 2021). Addressing this issue would be akin to research in the area of treatment selection, which has demonstrated that outcomes can be improved by algorithmically matching a patient's background and current presentation to the treatment that is statistically most likely to result in an optimal response (Cohen & DeRubeis 2018). Because the potential dimensionality of ongoing measurement is so expansive, however, it will be important for researchers to utilize prior knowledge to guide the identification of both the likely systems involved and their most accessible proxy measures.

The regulatory flexibility concept also dictates consideration that a given individual may employ a diversity of behaviors and strategies at any time in any given context. It is already possible to capture dynamic variations of this sort using currently available repeated assessments methodologies, such as ecological momentary assessment (EMA). Although the data produced by EMA are often relatively crude (e.g., they rely primarily on self-report), these procedures nonetheless dramatically increase the accuracy of measurement of real-world activities over more conventional static assessments (Burke et al. 2017). A recent study demonstrated the potential of EMA as a tool for capturing the interplay between the flexibility sequence and adjustment in real time (S. Chen, X. Han, P. Sun & G.A. Bonanno, unpublished observations). Specifically, this study assessed continuous relations between sensitivity to contextual variation, use of strategy repertoire, and maintenance or change of strategy in relation to momentary measures of anxiety, depression and perceived stress captured multiple times daily over a 21-day period. Moreover, these findings, generated in the United States, were replicated in an independent sample in China, demonstrating the generalizability of the approach.

As technological innovations become increasingly available to the scientific community, however, granular assessments of the flexibility process should be able to advance apace. Paradigms developed to directly index stress and flexible regulatory ability in laboratory settings are already moving beyond the laboratory and into daily life. It is becoming increasingly plausible, for example, to capture dynamic, event-linked changes in psychophysiological and behavioral variables using passive data collection from remotely connected devices, such as wearables or smartphones (Konstantinou et al. 2020). As a potential next step, it would be possible, for instance, to better capture the dynamics of flexible self-regulation by combining passive data sources with repeated, brief, event-related self-report data garnered through EMA.

Finally, there is an essential question about how to model and statistically evaluate such rich data sources once they become available. Across research areas advocating for greater resolution in psychological measurement and intervention, there is a unified recognition of the need for advanced data modeling techniques that can integrate large, diverse data sources across time and perturbations caused by discrete events (Hebbrecht et al. 2020, Hitchcock et al. 2022, Lunansky et al. 2022). We outlined above the underlying principles of unsupervised and supervised ML models that are designed to solve classification and probabilistic prediction problems using high-throughput, high-dimensional data. An important step forward once appropriate data sources are generated is to directly model the components of regulatory flexibility. How do people pull from their internal and external resources to make a momentary decision in an attempt to improve their situation when they are under duress and then revise that process when needed? Understanding the interplay of contextual assessment, situation-specific goal setting, decision making, implementation, feedback, and adjustment requires both granular information and models that can update the classification at a rate consistent with behavior.

To achieve this aim, applied researchers might borrow from new classes of ML that currently have only been utilized in basic science research. These models elaborate on the basic principles outlined above to predict, and even influence, decision making based on dynamic changes in an individual's state and needs (Galatzer-Levy et al. 2018b). For example, analytic approaches used in basic animal neuroscience research, such as reinforcement learning (RL) models, aim to understand how animals explore and learn through real-time feedback so they might optimize their behavioral actions for maximal reward. The RL approach has also been used effectively in human research to capture prototypical emotional responses (Broekens et al. 2015). Given comparable forms of granular data and system perturbation, we suggest that RL, or similar approaches, might also be adapted for research on the components of regulatory flexibility during the course of real-time stressful life events.

Prognostications of future advancements in science, however, are often notoriously inaccurate. We proposed that research and mathematical models that capture the dynamic patterns of response and adaptation are the most probable means of advancing our understanding of how humans optimize for resilience under extreme uncertainty. Whatever form future research takes, our hope is that it will continue to push the bounds of our understanding beyond simple binary models of psychopathology/non-psychopathology and toward more fine-grained insights into how motivated exploration and adjustment drive heterogeneous outcomes, in particular resilience, following high-uncertainty events like disasters.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- Achdut N, Refaeli T. 2020. Unemployment and psychological distress among young people during the COVID-19 pandemic: psychological resources and risk factors. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17(19):7163
- Afifi T, Afifi W, Merrill AF, Denes A, Davis S. 2013. "You need to stop talking about this!" Verbal rumination and the costs of social support. *Hum. Commun. Res.* 39(4):395–421

- Ahrens KF, Neumann RJ, Kollmann B, Brokelmann J, von Werthern NM, et al. 2021. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on mental health in Germany: longitudinal observation of different mental health trajectories and protective factors. *Transl. Psychiatry*. 11:392
- Aldao A. 2013. The future of emotion regulation research: capturing context. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 8(2):155–72
- Aldao A, Sheppes G, Gross JJ. 2015. Emotion regulation flexibility. Cogn. Ther. Res. 39(3):263-78
- Arcaya M, Raker EJ, Waters MC. 2020. The social consequences of disasters: individual and community change. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 46:671–91
- Arslan G, Yıldırım M. 2021. Coronavirus stress, meaningful living, optimism, and depressive symptoms: a study of moderated mediation model. Aust. J. Psychol. 73(2):113–24
- Batterham PJ, Calear AL, Shou Y, Farrer LM, Gulliver A, et al. 2022. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on suicidal ideation in a representative Australian population sample—longitudinal cohort study. J. Affect. Disord. 300:385–91
- Bauer DJ, Curran PJ. 2003. Distributional assumptions of growth mixture models: implications for overextraction of latent trajectory classes. *Psychol. Methods* 8:338–63
- Benight CC, Cieslak R. 2011. Cognitive factors and resilience: how self-efficacy contributes to coping with adversities. In *Resilience and Mental Health: Challenges Across the Lifespan*, ed. SM Southwick, BT Litz, D Charney, MJ Friedman, pp. 45–55. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Birk JL, Bonanno GA. 2016. When to throw the switch: the adaptiveness of modifying emotion regulation strategies based on affective and physiological feedback. *Emotion* 16:657–70
- Bokszczanin A. 2008. Parental support, family conflict, and overprotectiveness: predicting PTSD symptom levels of adolescents 28 months after a natural disaster. *Anxiety Stress Coping* 21(4):325–35
- Bolger N, Amarel D. 2007. Effects of social support visibility on adjustment to stress: experimental evidence. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 92:458–75
- Bonanno GA. 2004. Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *Am. Psychol.* 59(1):20–28
- Bonanno GA. 2021a. The End of Trauma: How the New Science of Resilience Is Changing How We Think About PTSD. New York: Basic Books
- Bonanno GA. 2021b. The resilience paradox. Eur. J. Psychotraumatol. 12(1):1942642
- Bonanno GA, Brewin CR, Kaniasty K, Greca AML. 2010. Weighing the costs of disaster: consequences, risks, and resilience in individuals, families, and communities. *Psychol. Sci. Public Interest* 11(1):1–49
- Bonanno GA, Burton CL. 2013. Regulatory flexibility: an individual differences perspective on coping and emotion regulation. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 8(6):591–612
- Bonanno GA, Chen S, Galatzer-Levy IR. 2023. Resilience to potential trauma and adversity through regulatory flexibility. *Nat. Rev. Psychol.* In press
- Bonanno GA, Galea S, Bucciarelli A, Vlahov D. 2007. What predicts psychological resilience after disaster? The role of demographics, resources, and life stress. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 75:671–82
- Bonanno GA, Ho SMY, Chan JCK, Kwong RSY, Cheung CKY, et al. 2008. Psychological resilience and dysfunction among hospitalized survivors of the SARS epidemic in Hong Kong: a latent class approach. *Health Psychol.* 27:659–67
- Bonanno GA, Kennedy P, Galatzer-Levy IR, Lude P, Elfström ML. 2012. Trajectories of resilience, depression, and anxiety following spinal cord injury. *Rebabil. Psychol.* 57:236–47
- Bonanno GA, Maccallum F, Malgaroli M, Hou WK. 2020. The Context Sensitivity Index (CSI): measuring the ability to identify the presence and absence of stressor context cues. Assessment 27(2):261–73
- Bonanno GA, Papa A, Lalande K, Westphal M, Coifman K. 2004. The importance of being flexible: the ability to both enhance and suppress emotional expression predicts long-term adjustment. *Psychol. Sci.* 15(7):482–87
- Bonanno GA, Rennicke C, Dekel S. 2005. Self-enhancement among high-exposure survivors of the September 11th terrorist attack: resilience or social maladjustment? J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 88:984–98
- Bonanno GA, Romero SA, Klein SI. 2015. The temporal elements of psychological resilience: an integrative framework for the study of individuals, families, and communities. *Psychol. Ing.* 26(2):139–69
- Bonanno GA, Wortman CB, Lehman DR, Tweed RG, Haring M, et al. 2002. Resilience to loss and chronic grief: a prospective study from preloss to 18-months postloss. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 83:1150–64

- Bond FW, Hayes SC, Baer RA, Carpenter KM, Guenole N, et al. 2011. Preliminary psychometric properties of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire-II: a revised measure of psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance. *Behav. Ther*: 42(4):676–88
- Border R, Johnson EC, Evans LM, Smolen A, Berley N, et al. 2019. No support for historical candidate gene or candidate gene-by-interaction hypotheses for major depression across multiple large samples. Am. J. Psychiatry 176(5):376–87
- Bountress KE, Gilmore AK, Metzger IW, Aggen SH, Tomko RL, et al. 2020. Impact of disaster exposure severity: cascading effects across parental distress, adolescent PTSD symptoms, as well as parent-child conflict and communication. Soc. Sci. Med. 264:113293
- Broekens J, Jacobs E, Jonker CM. 2015. A reinforcement learning model of joy, distress, hope and fear. Connect. Sci. 27(3):215–33
- Burke LE, Shiffman S, Music E, Styn MA, Kriska A, et al. 2017. Ecological momentary assessment in behavioral research: addressing technological and human participant challenges. J. Med. Internet Res. 19(3):e7138
- Cao X, Jiang X, Li X, Lo MJH, Li R. 2013. Family functioning and its predictors among disaster bereaved individuals in China: eighteen months after the Wenchuan earthquake. *PLOS ONE* 8(4):e60738
- Carver CS, Scheier MF. 2014. Dispositional optimism. Trends Cogn. Sci. 18(6):293-99
- Chang K. 2010. Community cohesion after a natural disaster: insights from a Carlisle flood. *Disasters* 34(2):289–302
- Chen S, Bagrodia R, Pfeffer CC, Meli L, Bonanno GA. 2020. Anxiety and resilience in the face of natural disasters associated with climate change: a review and methodological critique. *J. Anxiety Disord.* 76:102297
- Chen S, Bi K, Sun P, Bonanno GA. 2022. Psychopathology and resilience following strict COVID-19 lockdowns in Hubei, China: examining person- and context-level predictors for longitudinal trajectories. Am. Psychol. 77:262–75
- Chen S, Bonanno GA. 2021. Components of emotion regulation flexibility: linking latent profiles to depressive and anxious symptoms. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 9(2):236–51
- Chen S, Chen T, Bonanno GA. 2018. Expressive flexibility: Enhancement and suppression abilities differentially predict life satisfaction and psychopathology symptoms. *Pers. Individ. Differ*. 126:78–84
- Cheng C. 2001. Assessing coping flexibility in real-life and laboratory settings: a multimethod approach. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 80:814–33
- Cheng C. 2003. Discriminative facility: cognitive mechanisms of coping. In *Catching the Future: Women and Men in Global Psychology*, ed. R Roth, L Lowenstein, D Trent, pp. 81–89. Lengerich, Ger.: Pabst Sci. Publ.
- Cheng C, Lau H-PB, Chan M-PS. 2014. Coping flexibility and psychological adjustment to stressful life changes: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol. Bull.* 140:1582–607
- Cheng C, Wang H, Ebrahimi OV. 2021. Adjustment to a "new normal:" coping flexibility and mental health issues during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Psychiatry* 12:6261976
- Chmitorz A, Kunzler A, Helmreich I, Tüscher O, Kalisch R, et al. 2018. Intervention studies to foster resilience—a systematic review and proposal for a resilience framework in future intervention studies. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 59:78–100
- Cobham VE, McDermott B, Haslam D, Sanders MR. 2016. The role of parents, parenting and the family environment in children's post-disaster mental health. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 18(6):53
- Cohen ZD, DeRubeis RJ. 2018. Treatment selection in depression. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 14:209-36
- Coifman KG, Bonanno GA. 2010. When distress does not become depression: emotion context sensitivity and adjustment to bereavement. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 119:479–90
- Connor KM, Davidson JRT. 2003. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress. Anxiety 18(2):76–82
- Conway CC, Krueger RF, HiTOP Consort. Exec. Board, Cicero DC, DeYoung CG, et al. 2021. Rethinking the diagnosis of mental disorders: data-driven psychological dimensions, not categories, as a framework for mental-health research, treatment, and training. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 30(2):151–58
- Darwin C. 1871. The Descent of Man, and Selection in Relation to Sex. London: John Murray
- Delegach M, Katz-Navon T. 2021. Regulatory foci and well-being: coping flexibility and stressor appraisal as explanatory mechanisms. Int. J. Stress Manag. 28:117–29

- deRoon-Cassini TA, Mancini AD, Rusch MD, Bonanno GA. 2010. Psychopathology and resilience following traumatic injury: a latent growth mixture model analysis. *Rebabil. Psychol.* 55:1–11
- Dorman Ilan S, Shafir R, Birk JL, Bonanno GA, Sheppes G. 2019. Monitoring in emotion regulation: behavioral decisions and neural consequences. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 14(12):1273–83
- Engert V, Blasberg JU, Köhne S, Strauss B, Rosendahl J. 2021. Resilience and personality as predictors of the biological stress load during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany. *Transl. Psychiatry* 11:443
- Fernández RS, Crivelli L, Guimet NM, Allegri RF, Picco S, Pedreira ME. 2022. Psychological distress and mental health trajectories during the COVID-19 pandemic in Argentina: a longitudinal study. Sci. Rep. 12(1):5632
- Frances AJ, Widiger T. 2012. Psychiatric diagnosis: lessons from the DSM-IV Past and cautions for the DSM-5 future. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 8:109–30
- Funder DC, Ozer DJ. 2019. Evaluating effect size in psychological research: sense and nonsense. Adv. Methods Pract. Psychol. Sci. 2(2):156–68
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Bryant RA. 2013. 636,120 ways to have posttraumatic stress disorder. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 8(6):651–62
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Huang SH, Bonanno GA. 2018a. Trajectories of resilience and dysfunction following potential trauma: a review and statistical evaluation. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 63:41–55
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Karstoft K-I, Statnikov A, Shalev AY. 2014a. Quantitative forecasting of PTSD from early trauma responses: a machine learning application. *7. Psychiatr. Res.* 59:68–76
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Ruggles KV, Chen Z. 2018b. Data science in the research domain criteria era: relevance of machine learning to the study of stress pathology, recovery, and resilience. *Chronic Stress* 2:2470547017747553
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Steenkamp MM, Brown AD, Qian M, Inslicht S, et al. 2014b. Cortisol response to an experimental stress paradigm prospectively predicts long-term distress and resilience trajectories in response to active police service. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 56:36–42
- Gambin M, Oleksy T, Sękowski M, Wnuk A, Woźniak-Prus M, et al. 2023. Pandemic trajectories of depressive and anxiety symptoms and their predictors: five-wave study during the COVID-19 pandemic in Poland. *Psychol. Med.* 53(9):4291–93
- Gartland D, Bond L, Olsson CA, Buzwell S, Sawyer SM. 2011. Development of a multi-dimensional measure of resilience in adolescents: the Adolescent Resilience Questionnaire. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 11(1):134
- Georgiev AV, Klimczuk ACE, Traficonte DM, Maestripieri D. 2013. When violence pays: a cost-benefit analysis of aggressive behavior in animals and humans. *Evol. Psychol.* 11(3):147470491301100
- Gleason MEJ, Iida M, Bolger N, Shrout PE. 2003. Daily supportive equity in close relationships. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 29(8):1036–45
- Gleason MEJ, Iida M, Shrout PE, Bolger N. 2008. Receiving support as a mixed blessing: evidence for dual effects of support on psychological outcomes. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 94:824–38
- Goode E, Eakin E. 2002. Mental health: the profession tests its limits. New York Times, Sept. 11
- Götz FM, Gosling SD, Rentfrow PJ. 2022. Small effects: The indispensable foundation for a cumulative psychological science. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 17(1):205–15
- Grimm KJ, Mazza GL, Davoudzadeh P. 2017. Model selection in finite mixture models: a k-fold cross-validation approach. Struct. Equ. Model. Multidiscip. J. 24(2):246–56
- Gruber J, Mauss IB, Tamir M. 2011. A dark side of happiness? How, when, and why happiness is not always good. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 6(3):222–33
- Gruebner O, Lowe SR, Tracy M, Joshi S, Cerdá M, et al. 2016. Mapping concentrations of posttraumatic stress and depression trajectories following Hurricane Ike. *Sci. Rep.* 6(1):32242
- Han X, Chen S, Bi K, Yang Z, Sun P. 2021. Depression following COVID-19 lockdown in severely, moderately, and mildly impacted areas in China. *Front. Psychiatry*. 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.596872
- Harkin B, Webb TL, Chang BPI, Prestwich A, Conner M, et al. 2016. Does monitoring goal progress promote goal attainment? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. *Psychol. Bull.* 142:198–229
- Hayes SC, Follette VM, Linehan M. 2004. Mindfulness and Acceptance: Expanding the Cognitive-Behavioral Tradition. New York: Guilford

- Hebbrecht K, Stuivenga M, Birkenhäger T, Morrens M, Fried EI, et al. 2020. Understanding personalized dynamics to inform precision medicine: a dynamic time warp analysis of 255 depressed inpatients. BMC Med. 18(1):400
- Heid AR, Christman Z, Pruchno R, Cartwright FP, Wilson-Genderson M. 2016. Vulnerable, but why? Posttraumatic stress symptoms in older adults exposed to Hurricane Sandy. *Disaster Med. Public Health Prep*. 10(3):362–70
- Hisham IN, Townsend G, Gillard S, Debnath B, Sin J. 2021. COVID-19: the perfect vector for a mental health epidemic. BJPsych Bull. 45(6):332–38
- Hitchcock PF, Fried EI, Frank MJ. 2022. Computational psychiatry needs time and context. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 73:243–70
- Ho M-C, Shaw D, Lin S, Chiu Y-C. 2008. How do disaster characteristics influence risk perception? *Risk Anal.* 28(3):635–43
- Hoppen TH, Morina N. 2019. The prevalence of PTSD and major depression in the global population of adult war survivors: a meta-analytically informed estimate in absolute numbers. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatol.* 10(1):1578637
- Hubel TY, Myatt JP, Jordan NR, Dewhirst OP, McNutt JW, Wilson AM. 2016. Energy cost and return for hunting in African wild dogs and cheetahs. *Nat. Commun.* 7(1):11034
- Hyland P, Shevlin M, Murphy J, McBride O, Fox R, et al. 2021. A longitudinal assessment of depression and anxiety in the Republic of Ireland before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry Res.* 300:113905
- Jahn CI, Gilardeau S, Varazzani C, Blain B, Sallet J, et al. 2018. Dual contributions of noradrenaline to behavioural flexibility and motivation. *Psychopharmacology* 235(9):2687-702
- James G, Witten D, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. 2021. An Introduction to Statistical Learning: With Applications in R. New York: Springer
- Johannesson KB, Arinell H, Arnberg FK. 2015. Six years after the wave: trajectories of posttraumatic stress following a natural disaster. J. Anxiety Disord. 36:15–24
- Kalisch R, Baker DG, Basten U, Boks MP, Bonanno GA, et al. 2017. The resilience framework as a strategy to combat stress-related disorders. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 1(11):784–90
- Kalokerinos EK, Greenaway KH, Casey JP. 2017. Context shapes social judgments of positive emotion suppression and expression. *Emotion* 17:169–86
- Kaniasty K. 2020. Social support, interpersonal, and community dynamics following disasters caused by natural hazards. Curr. Opin. Psychol. 32:105–9
- Kashdan TB, Disabato DJ, Goodman FR, Doorley JD, McKnight PE. 2020. Understanding psychological flexibility: a multimethod exploration of pursuing valued goals despite the presence of distress. *Psychol. Assess.* 32:829–50
- Kashdan TB, Rottenberg J. 2010. Psychological flexibility as a fundamental aspect of health. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 30(7):865–78
- Keefer SE, Gyawali U, Calu DJ. 2021. Choose your path: Divergent basolateral amygdala efferents differentially mediate incentive motivation, flexibility and decision-making. *Behav. Brain Res.* 409:113306
- Kelly H. 2011. The classical definition of a pandemic is not elusive. Bull. World Health Organ. 89(7):540-41
- Kessler RC, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Benjet C, Bromet EJ, et al. 2017. Trauma and PTSD in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatol.* 8(Suppl. 5):1353383
- Kimhi S, Eshel Y, Bonanno GA. 2020. Resilience protective and risk factors as prospective predictors of depression and anxiety symptoms following intensive terror attacks in Israel. *Pers. Individ. Differ*. 159:109864
- Kimhi S, Eshel Y, Marciano H, Adini B, Bonanno GA. 2021. Trajectories of depression and anxiety during COVID-19: associations with religion, income, and economic difficulties. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 144:389–96
- Konstantinou P, Trigeorgi A, Georgiou C, Gloster AT, Panayiotou G, Karekla M. 2020. Comparing apples and oranges or different types of citrus fruits? Using wearable versus stationary devices to analyze psychophysiological data. *Psychophysiology* 57(5):e13551
- La Greca AM, Lai BS, Llabre MM, Silverman WK, Vernberg EM, Prinstein MJ. 2013. Children's postdisaster trajectories of PTS symptoms: predicting chronic distress. *Child Youth Care Forum* 42(4):351–69
- Lai BS, Tiwari A, Beaulieu BA, Self-Brown S, Kelley ML. 2015. Hurricane Katrina: maternal depression trajectories and child outcomes. Curr. Psychol. 34(3):515–23

- Lei L, Huang X, Zhang S, Yang J, Yang L, Xu M. 2020. Comparison of prevalence and associated factors of anxiety and depression among people affected by versus people unaffected by quarantine during the COVID-19 epidemic in southwestern China. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 26:e924609
- Lenzo V, Quattropani MC, Sardella A, Martino G, Bonanno GA. 2021. Depression, anxiety, and stress among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 outbreak and relationships with expressive flexibility and context sensitivity. *Front. Psychol.* 12:623033
- Lillicrap TP, Santoro A, Marris L, Akerman CJ, Hinton G. 2020. Backpropagation and the brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 21(6):335–46
- Looi JC, Allison S, Bastiampillai T, Maguire P. 2020. Fire, disease and fear: effects of the media coverage of 2019–2020 Australian bushfires and novel coronavirus 2019 on population mental health. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 54(9):938–39
- Lowe SR, Rhodes JE. 2013. Trajectories of psychological distress among low-income, female survivors of Hurricane Katrina. Am. J. Orthopsychiatry 83(2 Pt. 3):398–412
- Lunansky G, Van Borkulo CD, Blanken T, Cramer AOJ, Borsboom D. 2022. Bouncing back from life's perturbations: Formalizing psychological resilience from a complex systems perspective. PsyArXiv, Feb. 28. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/ftx4j
- Mandavia AD, Bonanno GA. 2019. When natural disaster follows economic downturn: the incremental impact of multiple stressor events on trajectories of depression and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Disaster Med. Public Health Prep.* 13(2):173–82
- Marchand A, Nadeau C, Beaulieu-Prévost D, Boyer R, Martin M. 2015. Predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder among police officers: a prospective study. *Psychol. Trauma* 7(3):212
- Maslow CB, Caramanica K, Welch AE, Stellman SD, Brackbill RM, Farfel MR. 2015. Trajectories of scores on a screening instrument for PTSD among World Trade Center rescue, recovery, and clean-up workers. *J. Trauma. Stress* 28(3):198–205
- McClure MJ, Xu JH, Craw JP, Lane SP, Bolger N, Shrout PE. 2014. Understanding the costs of support transactions in daily life. *J. Pers.* 82(6):563–74
- McFarlane AC, Williams R. 2012. Mental health services required after disasters: learning from the lasting effects of disasters. *Depress. Res. Treat.* 2012:970194
- Messman-Moore TL, Brown AL. 2006. Risk perception, rape, and sexual revictimization: a prospective study of college women. *Psychol. Women Q.* 30(2):159–72
- Mohri M, Rostamizadeh A, Talwalkar A. 2018. *Foundations of Machine Learning*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 2nd ed.
- Muthén B. 2004. Latent variable analysis: growth mixture modeling and related techniques for longitudinal data. In *The SAGE Handbook of Quantitative Methodology for the Social Sciences*, ed. D Kaplan. London: SAGE. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412986311
- Nandi A, Tracy M, Beard JR, Vlahov D, Galea S. 2009. Patterns and predictors of trajectories of depression after an urban disaster. Ann. Epidemiol. 19(11):761–70
- Neria Y, Sullivan GM. 2011. Understanding the mental health effects of indirect exposure to mass trauma through the media. *JAMA* 306(12):1374–75
- Newnham EA, Mergelsberg ELP, Chen Y, Kim Y, Gibbs L, et al. 2022. Long term mental health trajectories after disasters and pandemics: a multilingual systematic review of prevalence, risk and protective factors. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 97:102203
- Norris FH, Friedman MJ, Watson PJ. 2002. 60,000 disaster victims speak: part II. Summary and implications of the disaster mental health research. *Psychiatry Interpers. Biol. Process.* 65(3):240–60
- Nylund-Gibson K, Choi AY. 2018. Ten frequently asked questions about latent class analysis. Transl. Issues Psychol. Sci. 4:440–61
- Orcutt HK, Bonanno GA, Hannan SM, Miron LR. 2014. Prospective trajectories of posttraumatic stress in college women following a campus mass shooting. J. Trauma. Stress 27(3):249–56
- Pancani L, Marinucci M, Aureli N, Riva P. 2021. Forced social isolation and mental health: a study on 1,006 Italians under COVID-19 lockdown. *Front. Psychol.* 12:663799
- Pearce N, Rhodes S, Stocking K, Pembrey L, van Veldhoven K, et al. 2021. Occupational differences in COVID-19 incidence, severity, and mortality in the United Kingdom: available data and framework for analyses. *Wellcome Open Res.* 6:102

- Pellerin N, Raufaste E, Corman M, Teissedre F, Dambrun M. 2022. Psychological resources and flexibility predict resilient mental health trajectories during the French COVID-19 lockdown. Sci. Rep. 12(1):10674
- Perrin PC, McCabe OL, Everly GS, Links JM. 2009. Preparing for an influenza pandemic: mental health considerations. *Prebospital Disaster Med.* 24(3):223–30
- Pfefferbaum B, Jacobs AK, Van Horn RL, Houston JB. 2016. Effects of displacement in children exposed to disasters. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 18(8):71
- Pietrzak RH, Feder A, Singh R, Schechter CB, Bromet EJ, et al. 2014. Trajectories of PTSD risk and resilience in World Trade Center responders: an 8-year prospective cohort study. *Psychol. Med.* 44(1):205–19
- Pietrzak RH, Van Ness PH, Fried TR, Galea S, Norris FH. 2013. Trajectories of posttraumatic stress symptomatology in older persons affected by a large-magnitude disaster. J. Psychiatr. Res. 47(4):520–26
- Pirkis J, John A, Shin S, DelPozo-Banos M, Arya V, et al. 2021. Suicide trends in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic: an interrupted time-series analysis of preliminary data from 21 countries. *Lancet Psychiatry* 8(7):579–88
- Prati G, Mancini AD. 2021. The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns: a review and metaanalysis of longitudinal studies and natural experiments. *Psychol. Med.* 51(2):201–11
- Prum R. 2017. The Evolution of Beauty: How Darwin's Forgotten Theory of Mate Choice Shapes the Animal World. New York: Doubleday
- Rieskamp J, Otto PE. 2006. SSL: a theory of how people learn to select strategies. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 135:207– 36
- Robinson M, McGlinchey E, Bonanno GA, Spikol E, Armour C. 2022. A path to post-trauma resilience: a mediation model of the flexibility sequence. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatol.* 13(2):2112823
- Roth M, Herzberg PY. 2017. The resilient personality prototype: resilience as a self-deception artifact? *J. Individ. Differ.* 38(1):1–11
- Schäfer SK, Kunzler AM, Kalisch R, Tüscher O, Lieb K. 2022. Trajectories of resilience and mental distress to global major disruptions. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 26(12):1171–89
- Schultebraucks K, Choi KW, Galatzer-Levy IR, Bonanno GA. 2021. Discriminating heterogeneous trajectories of resilience and depression after major life stressors using polygenic scores. JAMA Psychiatry 78(7):744–52
- Schultebraucks K, Shalev AY, Michopoulos V, Grudzen CR, Shin S-M, et al. 2020. A validated predictive algorithm of post-traumatic stress course following emergency department admission after a traumatic stressor. *Nat. Med.* 26(7):1084–88
- Self-Brown S, Lai BS, Thompson JE, McGill T, Kelley ML. 2013. Posttraumatic stress disorder symptom trajectories in Hurricane Katrina affected youth. J. Affect. Disord. 147(1):198–204
- Shabat M, Shafir R, Sheppes G. 2021. Flexible emotion regulatory selection when coping with COVID-19related threats during quarantine. Sci. Rep. 11(1):21468
- Shevlin M, Butter S, McBride O, Murphy J, Gibson-Miller J, et al. 2023. Refuting the myth of a "tsunami" of mental ill-health in populations affected by COVID-19. *Psychol. Med.* 53(2):429–37
- Shilton T, Mancini AD, Perlstein S, Didomenico GE, Visoki E, et al. 2021. Prospective predictors of risk and resilience trajectories during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal study. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.10.08.21264752
- Skodol AE. 2010. The resilient personality. In Handbook of Adult Resilience, ed. JW Reich, AJ Zautra, JS Hall, pp. 112–25. New York: Guilford
- Son J, Lee HK, Jin S, Lee J. 2019. Content features of tweets for effective communication during disasters: a media synchronicity theory perspective. Int. J. Inf. Manag. 45:56–68
- Southwick SM, Sippel L, Krystal J, Charney D, Mayes L, Pietrzak R. 2016. Why are some individuals more resilient than others: the role of social support. *World Psychiatry* 15(1):77–79
- Tang B, Liu X, Liu Y, Xue C, Zhang L. 2014. A meta-analysis of risk factors for depression in adults and children after natural disasters. *BMC Public Health* 14(1):623
- Taylor S, Landry CA, Paluszek MM, Fergus TA, McKay D, Asmundson GJG. 2020. COVID stress syndrome: concept, structure, and correlates. *Depress. Anxiety* 37(8):706–14
- Thomassen ÅG, Hystad SW, Johnsen BH, Johnsen GE, Laberg JC, Eid J. 2015. The combined influence of hardiness and cohesion on mental health in a military peacekeeping mission: a prospective study. *Scand. J. Psychol.* 56(5):560–66

- Tierney K, Oliver-Smith A. 2012. Social dimensions of disaster recovery. Int. J. Mass Emerg. Disasters 30(2):123-46
- Travis J. 2005. Scientists' fears come true as hurricane floods New Orleans. Science 309(5741):1656-59
- Troy AS, Shallcross AJ, Mauss IB. 2013. A person-by-situation approach to emotion regulation: Cognitive reappraisal can either help or hurt, depending on the context. *Psychol. Sci.* 24(12):2505–14
- Tull MT, Aldao A. 2015. Editorial overview: new directions in the science of emotion regulation. Curr. Opin. Psychol. 3:iv-x
- Uttervall M, Hultman CM, Ekerwald H, Lindam A, Lundin T. 2014. After the flood: resilience among tsunami-afflicted adolescents. Nord. J. Psychiatry 68(1):38–43
- van der Meulen E, van der Velden PG, Setti I, van Veldhoven MJPM. 2018. Predictive value of psychological resilience for mental health disturbances: a three-wave prospective study among police officers. *Psychiatry Res.* 260:486–94
- Varga TV, Bu F, Dissing AS, Elsenburg LK, Bustamante JJH, et al. 2021. Loneliness, worries, anxiety, and precautionary behaviours in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal analysis of 200,000 Western and Northern Europeans. *Lancet Reg. Health Eur*: 2:100020
- Västfjäll D, Peters E, Slovic P. 2014. The affect heuristic, mortality salience, and risk: domain-specific effects of a natural disaster on risk-benefit perception. *Scand. J. Psychol.* 55(6):527–32
- Wan W. 2020. The coronavirus pandemic is pushing America into a mental health crisis. *Washington Post*, May 4
- Webb TL, Miles E, Sheeran P. 2012. Dealing with feeling: a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of strategies derived from the process model of emotion regulation. *Psychol. Bull.* 138:775–808
- Weems CF, Carrion VG, McCurdy BH, Scozzafava MD. 2020. Increased risk of suicide due to economic and social impacts of social distancing measures to address the COVID-19 pandemic: a forecast. Work. Pap., Iowa State Univ., Ames, IA
- Westphal M, Seivert NH, Bonanno GA. 2010. Expressive flexibility. Emotion 10:92-100
- Xu J, Wang Z, Shen F, Ouyang C, Tu Y. 2016. Natural disasters and social conflict: a systematic literature review. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 17:38–48
- Zhang N, Yang S, Jia P. 2022. Cultivating resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic: a socioecological perspective. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 73:575–98
- Zhou X, Wu X, Zhen R, Wang W, Tian Y. 2018. Trajectories of posttraumatic stress disorders among adolescents in the area worst-hit by the Wenchuan earthquake. J. Affect. Disord. 235:303–7
- Zhou X, Zhen R, Wu X. 2019. Trajectories of sleep problems among adolescents after the Wenchuan earthquake: the role of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms. *Psychol. Health* 34(7):811–27
- Zimmer-Gembeck MJ. 2021. Coping flexibility: variability, fit and associations with efficacy, emotion regulation, decentering and responses to stress. *Stress Health* 37(5):848–61
- Zimmermann P, Iwanski A. 2014. Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood and middle adulthood: age differences, gender differences, and emotion-specific developmental variations. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 38(2):182–94

Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 75, 2024

Contents

The Neurobiology of Activational Aspects of Motivation: Exertion of Effort, Effort-Based Decision Making, and the Role of Dopamine <i>John D. Salamone and Merce Correa</i>
Sexual Incentive Motivation and Sexual Behavior: The Role of Consent Anders Ågmo and Ellen Laan
A Systematic Review of Implementation Research on Determinants and Strategies of Effective HIV Interventions for Men Who Have Sex with Men in the United States Brian Mustanski, Artur Queiroz, James L. Merle, alithia zamantakis, Juan Pablo Zapata, Dennis H. Li, Nanette Benbow, Maria Pyra, and Justin D. Smith
Music Training and Nonmusical Abilities E. Glenn Schellenberg and César F. Lima
Serial Dependence in Perception Guido Marco Cicchini, Kyriaki Mikellidou, and David Charles Burr
What Does the Human Olfactory System Do, and How Does It Do It? Gülce Nazlı Dikeçligil and Jay A. Gottfried 155
The Relation Between Attention and Memory Nelson Cowan, Chenye Bao, Brittney M. Bishop-Chrzanowski, Amy N. Costa, Nathaniel R. Greene, Dominic Guitard, Chenyuan Li, Madison L. Musich, and Zehra E. Ünal
Modeling Similarity and Psychological Space Brett D. Roads and Bradley C. Love
Metacognition and Confidence: A Review and Synthesis Stephen M. Fleming
Beyond the Tricks: The Science and Comparative Cognition of Magic Elias Garcia-Pelegrin, Alexandra K. Schnell, Clive Wilkins, and Nicola S. Clayton 269
Moral Improvement of Self, Social Relations, and Society Colin Wayne Leach and Aarti Iyer

Social Media and Morality Jay J. Van Bavel, Claire E. Robertson, Kareena del Rosario, Jesper Rasmussen, and Steve Rathje	311
Norm Dynamics: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Social Norm Emergence, Persistence, and Change <i>Michele J. Gelfand, Sergey Gavrilets, and Nathan Nunn</i>	341
Pursuing Safety in Social Connection: A Flexibly Fluid Perspective on Risk Regulation in Relationships Sandra L. Murray and Gabriela S. Pascuzzi	379
Knowledge Transfer Within Organizations: Mechanisms, Motivation, and Consideration <i>Linda Argote</i>	405
The Neuroscience of Human and Artificial Intelligence Presence Lasana T. Harris	433
How Can People Become Happier? A Systematic Review of Preregistered Experiments Dunigan Folk and Elizabeth Dunn	467
Cultural Psychology: Beyond East and West Shinobu Kitayama and Cristina E. Salvador	495
Achievement Goals: A Social Influence Cycle Fabrizio Butera, Benoît Dompnier, and Céline Darnon	527
Why We Should Stop Trying to Fix Women: How Context Shapes and Constrains Women's Career Trajectories <i>Michelle K. Ryan and Thekla Morgenroth</i>	555
Resilience and Disaster: Flexible Adaptation in the Face of Uncertain Threat George A. Bongmon Shuguan Chen. Robini Bagrodia	
and Isaac R. Galatzer-Levy	573
Psychological Flexibility, Chronic Pain, and Health Lance M. McCracken	501
Computational Social Psychology <i>Fiery Cushman</i>	525
The Moral Psychology of Artificial Intelligence Jean-François Bonnefon, Iyad Rahwan, and Azim Shariff	553
Indexes	
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 65–75	577
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 65–75	582

Contents	vii
Gonroenno	0.00

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/psych

Related Articles

From the Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, Volume 19 (2023)

- A Clinical Psychologist Who Studies Alcohol Kenneth 7. Sher
- Community Mental Health Services for American Indians and Alaska Natives: Reconciling Evidence-Based Practice and Alter-Native Psy-ence *Joseph P. Gone*
- Culturally Responsive Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Ethnically Diverse Populations
 - Stanley J. Huey Jr., Alayna L. Park, Chardée A. Galán, and Crystal X. Wang
- What Four Decades of Meta-Analysis Have Taught Us About Youth Psychotherapy and the Science of Research Synthesis John R. Weisz, Katherine E. Venturo-Conerly, Olivia M. Fitzpatrick, Jennifer A. Frederick, and Mei Yi Ng
- Evaluation of Pressing Issues in Ecological Momentary Assessment Arthur A. Stone, Stefan Schneider, and Joshua M. Smyth
- Machine Learning and the Digital Measurement of Psychological Health Isaac R. Galatzer-Levy and Jukka-Pekka Onnela
- The Questionable Practice of Partialing to Refine Scores on and Inferences About Measures of Psychological Constructs *Rick H. Hoyle, Donald R. Lynam, Joshua D. Miller, and Jolynn Pek*
- Eating Disorders in Boys and Men Tiffany A. Brown and Pamela K. Keel
- Mental Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse Youth Natalie M. Wittlin, Laura E. Kuper, and Kristina R. Olson
- Behavioral Interventions for Children and Adults with Tic Disorder Douglas W. Woods, Michael B. Himle, Jordan T. Stiede, and Brandon X. Pitts
- The Garrett Lee Smith Memorial Act: A Description and Review of the Suicide Prevention Initiative David B. Goldston and Christine Walrath
- Racism and Social Determinants of Psychosis Deidre M. Anglin

	Developmental Consequences of Intimate Partner Violence on Children G. Anne Bogat, Alytia A. Levendosky, and Kara Cochran
-	Psychoneuroimmunology: An Introduction to Immune-to-Brain Communication and Its Implications for Clinical Psychology <i>Julienne E. Bower and Kate R. Kuhlman</i>
	Racial, Ethnic, and Cultural Resilience Factors in African American Youth Mental Health <i>Enrique W. Neblett Jr</i> :
	Acculturation and Psychopathology Gail M. Ferguson, José M. Causadias, and Tori S. Simenec
	Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Refugees Richard A. Bryant, Angela Nickerson, Naser Morina, and Belinda Liddell
	Risk and Resilience Among Children with Incarcerated Parents: A Review and Critical Reframing <i>Elizabeth I. Johnson and Joyce A. Arditti</i>
:	Supernatural Attributions: Seeing God, the Devil, Demons, Spirits, Fate, and Karma as Causes of Events <i>Julie J. Exline and Joshua A. Wilt</i>
Fre	om the Annual Review of Developmental Psychology, Volume 5 (2023)
-	Navigating an Unforeseen Pathway Margaret Beale Spencer

Prenatal Substance Exposure Rina D. Eiden, Kristin J. Perry, Miglena Y. Ivanova, and Rachel C. Marcus

Neurodevelopment of Attention, Learning, and Memory Systems in Infancy Tess Allegra Forest and Dima Amso

The Representation of Third-Party Helping Interactions in Infancy Laura Schlingloff-Nemecz, Denis Tatone, and Gergely Csibra

A Developmental Social Neuroscience Perspective on Infant Autism Interventions Geraldine Dawson, Amber D. Rieder, and Mark H. Johnson

Intervening Early: Socioemotional Interventions Targeting the Parent–Infant Relationship Mary Dozier and Kristin Bernard

Growing Up, Learning Race: An Integration of Research on Cognitive Mechanisms and Socialization in Context Diane Hughes, Blair Cox, and Sohini Das

Social Identities and Intersectionality: A Conversation About the What and the How of Development Margarita Azmitia, Paulette D. Garcia Peraza, and Saskias Casanova

	Children's Acquisition and Application of Norms Marco F.H. Schmidt and Hannes Rakoczy
	A Rational Account of Cognitive Control Development in Childhood Nikolaus Steinbeis
	A Two-Hit Model of Behavioral Inhibition and Anxiety Brendan Ostlund and Koraly Pérez-Edgar
	Developmental Neuroimaging of Cognitive Flexibility: Update and Future Directions
	Lauren B. Kupis and Lucina Q. Uddin
	A Neuroecosocial Perspective on Adolescent Development Suparna Choudhury, Blanca Piera Pi-Sunyer, and Sarah-Jayne Blakemore
	Poverty, Brain Development, and Mental Health: Progress, Challenges, and Paths Forward
	Christopher S. Monk and Felicia A. Hardi
	The Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development (SECCYD): Studying Development from Infancy to Adulthood Deborah Lowe Vandell and Zehra Gülseven
	Bridging the Divide: Tackling Tensions Between Life-Course Epidemiology and Causal Inference <i>Gabriel L. Schwartz and M. Maria Glymour</i>
	The Functioning of Offenring of Depressed Parents: Current Status Unresolved
	Issues, and Future Directions
	Ian H. Gotlib, Jessica L. Buthmann, and Jonas G. Miller
	Emotion Regulation in Couples Across Adulthood Claudia M. Haase
F	rom the Annual Review of Neuroscience, Volume 46 (2023)
	Therapeutic Potential of PTBP1 Inhibition, If Any, Is Not Attributed to Glia-to-Neuron Conversion <i>Lei-Lei Wang and Chun-Li Zhang</i>
	How Flies See Motion Alexander Borst and Lukas N. Groschner

Meningeal Mechanisms and the Migraine Connection Dan Levy and Michael A. Moskowitz

Cholesterol Metabolism in Aging and Age-Related Disorders Gesine Saher

Spinal Interneurons: Diversity and Connectivity in Motor Control Mohini Sengupta and Martha W. Bagnall

Astrocyte Endfeet in Brain Function and Pathology: Open Questions Blanca Díaz-Castro, Stefanie Robel, and Anusha Mishra

Circadian Rhythms and Astrocytes: The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly Michael H. Hastings, Marco Brancaccio, Maria F. Gonzalez-Aponte, and Erik D. Herzog
Therapeutic Potential of PTB Inhibition Through Converting Glial Cells to Neurons in the Brain <i>Xiang-Dong Fu and William C. Mobley</i>
How Instructions, Learning, and Expectations Shape Pain and Neurobiological Responses <i>Lauren Y. Atlas</i>
Cognition from the Body-Brain Partnership: Exaptation of Memory György Buzsáki and David Tingley
Neural Circuits for Emotion
Meryl Malezieux, Alexandra S. Klein, and Nadine Gogolla
The Computational and Neural Bases of Context-Dependent Learning James B. Heald, Daniel M. Wolpert, and Máté Lengyel
Integration of Feedforward and Feedback Information Streams in the Modular Architecture of Mouse Visual Cortex Andreas Burkhalter, Binaldo D. D'Souza, Weiging Fi, and Andrew M. Meier
How Do You Build a Cognitive Map? The Development of Circuits and Computations for the Representation of Space in the Brain <i>Flavio Donato, Anja Xu Schwartzlose, and Renan Augusto Viana Mendes</i>
Cortical Integration of Vestibular and Visual Cues for Navigation, Visual Processing, and Perception Sepiedeb Keshavarzi, Mateo Velez-Fort, and Troy W. Margrie
Neural Control of Sexually Dimorphic Social Behavior: Connecting Development to Adulthood <i>Margaret M. McCarthy</i>
Deep Brain Stimulation for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Depression Sameer A. Sheth and Helen S. Mayberg
Striosomes and Matrisomes: Scaffolds for Dynamic Coupling of Volition and Action Ann M. Graybiel and Ayano Matsushima
Specialized Networks for Social Cognition in the Primate Brain Ben Deen, Caspar M. Schwiedrzik, Julia Sliwa, and Winrich A. Freiwald
Neural Networks for Navigation: From Connections to Computations Rachel I. Wilson

From the *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, Volume 10 (2023)

Changes in Perspective and Perspectives on Change: Reflections on a Career *Timothy A. Judge*

Job Demands–Resources Theory: Ten Years Later Arnold B. Bakker, Evangelia Demerouti, and Ana Sanz-Vergel
Psychological Safety Comes of Age: Observed Themes in an Established Literature
Amy C. Edmondson and Derrick P. Bransby
Employee Voice and Silence: Taking Stock a Decade Later Elizabeth Wolfe Morrison
Understanding the Dynamic Interplay Between Actor and Context for Creativity: Progress and Desirable Directions Jing Zhou and Inga J. Hoever
The Psychology of Entrepreneurship: Action and Process Michael Frese and Michael M. Gielnik
Laying the Foundation for the Challenge–Hindrance Stressor Framework 2.0 Nathan P. Podsakoff, Kristen J. Freiburger, Philip M. Podsakoff, and Christopher C. Rosen
Crisis Leadership Ronald E. Riggio and Toby Newstead
Meta-Analysis in Organizational Research: A Guide to Methodological Options Scott B. Morris
Developing Self-Awareness: Learning Processes for Self- and Interpersonal Growth
Manuel London, Valerie I. Sessa, and Loren A. Shelley
Understanding Decent Work and Meaningful Work David L. Blustein, Evgenia I. Lysova, and Ryan D. Duffy
Innovations in Sampling: Improving the Appropriateness and Quality of Samples in Organizational Research <i>Michael J. Zickar and Melissa G. Keith</i>
Leading Virtually Bradford S. Bell, Kristie L. McAlpine, and N. Sharon Hill
Mental Health in the Workplace E. Kevin Kelloway, Jennifer K. Dimoff, and Stephanie Gilbert
Is Justice Colorblind? A Review of Workplace Racioethnic Differences Through the Lens of Organizational Justice Derek R. Avery, Alison V. Hall, McKenzie Preston, Enrica N. Ruggs, and Ella Washington
Leader Thinking, Follower Thinking: Leader Impacts on Follower Creative Performance Michael D. Mumford, Mark Fichtel, Samantha England, and Tanner R. Newbold
Self-Reflection at Work: Why It Matters and How to Harness Its Potential and Avoid Its Pitfalls <i>Ethan Kross, Madeline Ong, and Ozlem Ayduk</i>

	Employee Green Behavior as the Core of Environmentally Sustainable Organizations
	Hannes Zacher, Cort W. Rudolph, and Ian M. Katz
	Structural Equation Modeling in Organizational Research: The State of Our Science and Some Proposals for Its Future <i>Michael J. Zyphur</i> ; <i>Cavan V. Bonner</i> ; <i>and Louis Tay</i>
	Improving Workplace Judgments by Reducing Noise: Lessons Learned from a Century of Selection Research <i>Scott Highhouse and Margaret E. Brooks</i>
	From the Annual Review of Public Health, Volume 44 (2023)
	A Literature Review of the Effects of Air Pollution on COVID-19 Health Outcomes Worldwide: Statistical Challenges and Data Visualization A. Bhaskar, J. Chandra, H. Hashemi, K. Butler, L. Bennett, Jacqueline Cellini, Danielle Braun, and Francesca Dominici
	On-the-Go Adaptation of Implementation Approaches and Strategies in Health: Emerging Perspectives and Research Opportunities <i>Elvin H. Geng, Aaloke Mody, and Byron J. Powell</i>
	Enhancing Capacity for Food and Nutrient Intake Assessment in Population Sciences Research Marian L. Neuhouser, Ross L. Prentice, Lesley F. Tinker, and Johanna W. Lampe
	Innovations in Public Health Surveillance for Emerging Infections Peng Jia, Shiyong Liu, and Shujuan Yang
	Early Childhood Education: Health, Equity, and Economics Robert A. Hahn and W. Steven Barnett
	Environmental Justice: Where It Has Been, and Where It Might Be Going Merlin Chowkwanyun
	Health Misinformation Exposure and Health Disparities: Observations and Opportunities Brian G. Southwell, Jessica Otero Machuca, Sabrina T. Cherry, Melissa Burnside, and Nadine J. Barrett
	Leveraging Mobile Technology for Public Health Promotion: A Multidisciplinary Perspective Jennifer L. Hicks, Melissa A. Boswell, Tim Althoff, Alia J. Crum, Joy P. Ku,
	James A. Landay, Paula M.L. Moya, Elizabeth L. Murnane, Michael P. Snyder; Abby C. King, and Scott L. Delp
	When Moving Is the Only Option: The Role of Necessity Versus Choice for Understanding and Promoting Physical Activity in Low- and Middle-Income Countries
	Deborah Salvo, Alejandra Jáuregui, Deepti Adlakha, Olga L. Sarmiento, and Rodrigo S. Reis
xiv	Related Articles

Climatic and Environmental	Change,	Migration,	and	Health
Celia McMichael				

- Promoting Health Equity Through Preventing or Mitigating the Effects of Gentrification: A Theoretical and Methodological Guide *Helen V.S. Cole, Isabelle Anguelovski, Margarita Triguero-Mas, Roshanak Mehdipanah, and Mariana Arcaya*
- Public Health Implications of Drought in a Climate Change Context: A Critical Review Coral Salvador, Raquel Nieto, Sergio M. Vicente-Serrano, Ricardo García-Herrera,

Luis Gimeno, and Ana M. Vicedo-Cabrera

Review of the Impact of Housing Quality on Inequalities in Health and Well-Being

Philippa Howden-Chapman, Julie Bennett, Richard Edwards, David Jacobs, Kim Nathan, and David Ormandy

- Sustainable and Resilient Health Care in the Face of a Changing Climate Jodi D. Sherman, Andrea J. MacNeill, Paul D. Biddinger, Ozlem Ergun, Renee N. Salas, and Matthew J. Eckelman
- Cancers Attributable to Modifiable Risk Factors: A Road Map for Prevention *Giulia Collatuzzo and Paolo Boffetta*
- Public Health Preparedness for Extreme Heat Events Jeremy J. Hess, Nicole A. Errett, Glenn McGregor, Tania Busch Isaksen, Zachary S. Wettstein, Stefan K. Wheat, and Kristie L. Ebi
- The State of the US Public Health Workforce: Ongoing Challenges and Future Directions Jonathon P. Leider, Valerie A. Yeager, Chelsey Kirkland, Heather Krasna,
 - Rachel Hare Bork, and Beth Resnick
- The Value and Impacts of Academic Public Health Departments Paul C. Erwin, Julie H. Grubaugh, Stephanie Mazzucca-Ragan, and Ross C. Brownson
- Community Health Worker Integration with and Effectiveness in Health Care and Public Health in the United States *Molly Knowles, Aidan P. Crowley, Aditi Vasan, and Shreya Kangovi*

Multilevel Determinants of Digital Health Equity: A Literature Synthesis to Advance the Field *Courtney R. Lyles, Oanb Kieu Nguyen, Elaine C. Khoong, Adrian Aguilera, and Urmimala Sarkar*

Public Health and Prisons: Priorities in the Age of Mass Incarceration David H. Cloud, Ilana R. Garcia-Grossman, Andrea Armstrong, and Brie Williams

The Impacts of Paid Family and Medical Leave on Worker Health, Family Well-Being, and Employer Outcomes Ann Bartel, Maya Rossin-Slater, Christopher Ruhm, Meredith Slopen, and Jane Waldfogel

From the Annual Review of Vision Science, Volume 9 (2023)
Envisioning a Woman Scientist Suzanne P. McKee
Disparities in Eye Care Access and Utilization: A Narrative Review Joana E. Andoh, Agnes C. Ezekwesili, Kristen Nwanyanwu, and Angela Elam
Pathophysiology of Retinopathy of Prematurity M. Elizabeth Hartnett
Emerging Pathogenic Viral Infections of the Eye Ekta Rishi, Joanne Thomas, Tolulope Fashina, Lucas Kim, and Steven Yeh
Visual Dysfunction in Diabetes Erika D. Eggers
Impact of Apps as Assistive Devices for Visually Impaired Persons Shrinivas Pundlik, Prerana Shivshanker, and Gang Luo
Suppressing Retinal Remodeling to Mitigate Vision Loss in Photoreceptor Degenerative Disorders <i>Richard H. Kramer</i>
Factors Affecting Stem Cell–Based Regenerative Approaches in Retinal Degeneration Sachin H. Patel and Deepak A. Lamba
Structure, Function, and Molecular Landscapes of the Aging Retina Jeffrey D. Zhu, Sharma Pooja Tarachand, Qudrat Abdulwahab, and Melanie A. Samuel
What Is a Preferred Retinal Locus? Luminita Tarita-Nistor, Irina Sverdlichenko, and Mark S. Mandelcorn
Eye Morphogenesis in Vertebrates Macaulie A. Casey, Sarah Lusk, and Kristen M. Kwan
An Expanding Role for Nonvisual Opsins in Extraocular Light Sensing Physiology Mutahar Andrabi, Brian A. Upton, Richard A. Lang, and Shruti Vemaraju
Predicting Visual Fixations Matthias Kümmerer and Matthias Bethge
Two Sides of the Same Coin: Efficient and Predictive Neural Coding Michael B. Manookin and Fred Rieke
Visual Representations: Insights from Neural Decoding Amanda K. Robinson, Genevieve L. Quek, and Thomas A. Carlson
Neuronal Representations Supporting Three-Dimensional Vision in Nonhuman Primates
Ari Rosenberg, Lowell W. Thompson, Raymond Doudlah, and Ting-Yu Chang

Visual Functions of the Primate Superior Colliculus <i>Ziad M Hafed Klaus</i> -Peter Hoffmann Chih-Yang Chen and Amarender R Bogadhi
Contributions of the Basal Ganglia to Visual Perceptual Decisions Long Ding
Perception and Memory in the Ventral Visual Stream and Medial Temporal Lobe Chris B. Martin and Morgan D. Barense
Using Natural Scenes to Enhance our Understanding of the Cerebral Cortex's Role in Visual Search <i>Mark A. Segraves</i>
The Perceptual Science of Augmented Reality Emily A. Cooper
Ultra-High Field Imaging of Human Visual Cognition Ke Jia, Rainer Goebel, and Zoe Kourtzi
Are Deep Neural Networks Adequate Behavioral Models of Human Visual Perception?
Felix A. Wichmann and Robert Geirhos